Meeting:
Date/Time:
Location:
Contact:
Email:

Health and Wellbeing Board
Thursday, 17 September 2015 at 2.00 pm
Sparkenhoe Committee Room, County Hall, Glenfield
Mrs. R. Palmer (Tel: 0116 305 6098)
rosemary.palmer@leics.gov.uk
Membership
Mr. E. F. White CC (Chairman)
Gillian Adams
John Adler
Karen English
Lesley Hagger
Ch. Supt. Sally Healy
Mr. Dave Houseman MBE, CC
Dr Andy Ker
Dr Satheesh Kumar
Dr Mayur Lakhani

Rick Moore
Mr. I. D. Ould CC
Cllr. P. Posnett
Ranson
Toby Sanders
Mike Sandys
Trish Thompson
Jon Wilson

AGENDA
Item

Report by

1.

Minutes of the meeting held on 16 July 2015
and Action Log.

2.

To advise of any other items which the
Chairman has decided to take as urgent
elsewhere on the agenda.

3.

Declarations of interest in respect of items on
the agenda.

4.

Position Statement by the Chairman.

(Pages 3 - 18)

Strategy.
5.

Mental Health and Wellbeing of Children and
Young People - Better Care Together

Director of
Children and

(Pages 19 - 34)

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall
Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk
www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy

www.facebook.com/leicsdemocracy

www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy

6.

Workstream Update.

Family Services

Learning Disabilities and Autism Update.

Director of Adults
and Communities

(Pages 35 - 40)

Performance.
7.

Urgent and Emergency Care Vanguard and
Current Performance.

West
Leicestershire
Clinical
Commissioning
Group

(Pages 41 - 46)

8.

Healthwatch Annual Review 2014-15.

Healthwatch

(Pages 47 - 56)

9.

Insights from Healthwatch.

Healthwatch

10. Annual Reports of the Leicestershire and
Rutland Local Safeguarding Children Board
and Safeguarding Adults Board.

Independent Chair
of the
Safeguarding
Boards

(Pages 57 104)

11. Annual Reports of the Independent Reviewing
Officer Service 2014-15.

Director of
Children and
Family Services

(Pages 105 142)

12. Private Fostering.

Director of
Children and
Family Services

(Pages 143 146)

13. Dates of Future Meetings.
Future meetings of the Health and Wellbeing Board will be held at 2.00pm on the
following dates:19 November 2015
7 January 2016
10 March 2016
5 May 2016
7 July 2016
15 September 2016
17 November 2016.

14. Any other items which the Chairman has
decided to take as urgent.

3

Agenda Item 1

Minutes of a meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board held at County Hall, Glenfield on
Thursday, 16 July 2015.
PRESENT
Leicestershire County Council
Mr. E. F. White CC (In the Chair)
Mr. Dave Houseman MBE, CC
Mr. I. D. Ould CC

Lesley Hagger
Mike Sandys
Jon Wilson

Clinical Commissioning Groups
Karen English
Dr Andy Ker
Prof Mayur Lakhani
Toby Sanders
Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust
Dr Satheesh Kumar
University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust
John Adler
Healthwatch Leicestershire
Rick Moore
Gillian Adams
Leicestershire District/Borough Councils
Cllr Pam Posnett
Cllr Pauline Ranson
In attendance
Lesley Harrison, NHS England
Supt Martyn Ball, Leicestershire Police
197. Minutes and Action Log.
The minutes of the meeting held on 14 May 2015 were taken as read, confirmed and
signed.
The Board also noted the Action Log which provided an update on progress with the
actions agreed by the Board during 2015.

4
198. Urgent Items.
There were no urgent items for consideration.
199. Declarations of interest.
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of
items on the agenda for the meeting.
No declarations were made.
200. Position Statement by the Chairman.
The Chairman gave a position statement on the following matters:•
•
•
•

Local Developments;
The Development of Health and Wellbeing Boards;
National Developments;
Other publications/resources/conferences.

The Board congratulated Healthwatch Leicestershire for receiving a special
commendation at the national Healthwatch Awards for the ‘One Week in LRI’ report and
investigation.
It was also noted that the Urgent Care Board had submitted a vanguard application for
Urgent and Emergency Care across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland.
A copy of the position statement is filed with these minutes.
201. Better Care Together.
The Board considered a presentation from the Better Care Together Programme Director
which provided an update on the current position of the Better Care Together Programme
and set out next steps for 2015/16. A copy of the slides forming the presentation, marked
‘Agenda Item 5’ is filed with these minutes.
It was intended that the recovery colleges would operate as a hub and spoke model. It
was noted that two additional spokes of the recovery college for patients with mental
health issues were being developed in the County, one in Loughborough and one in
Market Harborough. Options for other sites were also being explored.
RESOLVED:
That progress with the Better Care Together programme be noted.
202. Better Care Together Mental Health Resilience and Recovery: Review of Third Sector
Contracts.
The Board considered a presentation from West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning
Group which set out the achievements to date with regard to mental health resilience and
recovery and proposed next steps, including the review of Third Sector contracts. A copy
of the slides forming the presentation, marked ‘Agenda Item 6’ is filed with these minutes.

5
Arising from discussion the following points were raised:(i) It was important that the focus on services which were outside of the scope of
Better Care Together was not lost.
(ii) It was hoped that this piece of work would address transition issues, particularly
those between children’s mental health services and adult mental health services.
(iii) There were a number of small, local projects in the County, such as ‘A Place to
Grow’ in Blaby District, which were part of the voluntary sector but often
overlooked. It was expected that the Local Area Co-ordinators would be aware of
these groups and make them part of the recovery pathway.
(iv) The County Council was reviewing its adult social care mental health pathway and
would welcome the opportunity to do this jointly with health services.
RESOLVED:
That the ‘recovery journey’ be noted.
203. Emotional Health and Wellbeing of Children and Young People: Better Care Together
Workstream Update.
The Board considered a report of the Director of Children and Family Services which
provided an update on the progress of the Better Care Together workstream with regard
to the emotional health and wellbeing of children and young people. A copy of the report
marked ‘Agenda Item 7’.
It was suggested that it would be useful for a GP to serve on the Leadership Board
established to progress the local transformation plan for children and young people’s
mental health and wellbeing. The Board was pleased to note that the Leadership Board
would also be addressing relevant issues raised by the Care Quality Commission report
regarding services provided by Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust as well as the need
to develop a ‘place of safety’ for children and young people.
The importance of seamless transitions between children’s and adult mental health was
emphasised. Work in the two areas should be completely aligned in order to reduce the
risks associated with transition.
RESOLVED:
That, pending the anticipated publication of the national guidance, the Leadership Board
be asked to develop the Transformation Plan to draw down funding for 2015/16 and that
approval of the plan be delegated to the Director for Children and Family Services and
the Director of Public Health, following consultation with the Chairman of the Health and
Wellbeing Board and Cabinet Lead Member for Children and Families.
204. Special Educational Needs and Disabilities Reform Update.
The Board considered a report of the Director of Children and Family Services which
provided an update on progress to date in regard to the implementation of Special
Education Needs and Disabilities (SEND) reform as part of the Children and Families Act.
A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 8’ is filed with these minutes.

6
It was noted that, although GPs have records of young people with disabilities, there was
no requirement for a register of young people with special educational needs to be kept.
Through the commissioning strategy, there would be a conversation with GPs regarding
how data could be collected in this area.
RESOLVED:
(a) That the progress in implementing the Special Educational Needs and Disabilities
Reform be noted, particularly in relation to the integrated working and contribution
made by health professionals;
(b) That the intention of Ofsted to develop a specific framework to inspect local areas
be noted.
205. Joint Strategic Needs Assessment Refresh.
The Board considered a report which presented the draft 2015 refresh of the Joint
Strategic Needs Assessment. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 9’ is filed with
these minutes.
The importance of end of life care was emphasised, particularly with regard to enabling
people who wished to do so to die in their normal place of residence. There was also a
need to support people to have plans in place for end of life care at a relatively early
stage.
With regard to alcohol related admissions, it was noted that Public Health had
commissioned alcohol liaison nurses to reduce alcohol related admissions. However, it
was not certain that the correct balance had been struck between short term
interventions and longer term prevention work.
It was noted that that JSNA formed the foundation of the Better Care Together Five Year
Strategy. It would be important to use the evidence and messages contained within the
JSNA to support the public consultation on the proposed changes to health services
being put forward through the Better Care Together programme.
RESOLVED:
(a) That the Executive Summary be endorsed subject to any comments from
members of the Health and Wellbeing Board that are submitted to the Director of
Public Health by email;
(b) That the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment, as part of the evidence base for the
Better Care Together Five Year Strategy, be incorporated into the briefing for all
members of the County Council on Better Care Together on 9 September.
206. Healthwatch Update: Ambulance Handover at Leicester Royal Infirmary.
The Board considered a presentation from Healthwatch Leicestershire which provided
details of the Enter and View visit undertaken on 12 March to consider ambulance
handovers at the Leicester Royal Infirmary. The Board also received the full report on
the visit. A copy of the slides forming the presentation, marked ‘Agenda Item 10’ and the
report is filed with these minutes.

7
The Board also considered a report setting out the findings of a quick poll survey
regarding views about GP services, a copy of which is filed with these minutes.
With regard to the ambulance handovers, it was noted that the new Emergency Floor at
the Leicester Royal Infirmary would be completed in 18 months and this would resolve a
number of the issues relating to physical facilities. The University Hospitals of Leicester
NHS Trust would consider what actions could be taken during the period before the new
Emergency Floor was in place.
RESOLVED:
(a) That the investigation into Ambulance Handovers at the Leicester Royal Infirmary
undertaken by Healthwatch be welcomed;
(b) That the findings of the Quick Poll Survey regarding GP services be referred to the
Clinical Commissioning Groups for consideration.

207. Ambulance Handovers.
The Board considered a joint presentation from the East Midlands Ambulance Service
(EMAS), University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust (UHL) and Clinical Commissioning
Groups (CCGs) setting out the performance issues related to ambulance handovers at
the Leicester Royal Infirmary. A copy of the slides forming the presentation, marked
‘Agenda Item 11’, is filed with these minutes.
The Board welcomed the collaborative approach to dealing with the challenges of
ambulance handovers. It was positive that the problem was recognised across all
partners and that progress was being made with the proposed improvements to the
system.
The Urgent Care Board had looked at both the clinical and patient risk related to
ambulance handover. The two key risks were that the condition of patients could
deteriorate whilst they were waiting to get in to the Emergency Department and that there
were patients in the community who needed an ambulance but there was insufficient
capacity due to ambulances being delayed during handover at the Leicester Royal
Infirmary. These risks had driven the focus on ambulance handovers.
UHL accepted the correlation between performance and handover times. It was
acknowledged that improvements to performance were still needed in this area. In
support of this, the entrance to the Urgent Care Centre and Emergency Department was
being redesigned to reduce the number of patient pathways that involved the use of
assessment bays and identify ways in which certain types of patients could bypass the
Emergency Department. This would be implemented by the end of September 2015.
EMAS and clinicians from UHL had been involved in the redesign.
RESOLVED:
(a) That the progress made to date address the performance issues related to
ambulance handovers be welcomed;

8
(b) That performance regarding ambulance handovers be included in the regular
performance reports to the Board and any areas for further concern highlighted
through that report.
208. Progress of the Better Care Fund Emergency Admissions Avoidance Schemes.
The Board considered a report of the Director of Health and Care Integration which
provided an update on the progress of the emergency admissions avoidance schemes
funded via the Leicestershire Better Care Fund and actions being taken to improve their
uptake and impact, following analysis of the performance since January 2015. A copy of
the report marked ‘Agenda Item 12’ is filed with these minutes.
It was reported that the Urgent Care Board had initiated a piece of work to analyse
activity and trend data for hospital admissions. A clinical case notes review would also
be undertaken. It was hoped that this would identify if there was anything further that
partners could due to reverse the trend of increasing admissions to hospital.
RESOLVED:
(a) That the action plan for the Emergency Admissions avoidance schemes be
supported;
(b) That all members of the Board be encouraged to provide leadership to the efforts
being made within respective organisations to avoid admissions through the
maximum utilisation of the alternatives in the community.
209. Performance Update at the end of Quarter 4.
The Board considered a joint report from Leicestershire County Council and the Greater
East Midlands Commissioning Support Unit which provided an update on performance
against current performance priorities as set out in the Health and Wellbeing Strategy
and Commissioner Performance Frameworks, based on data available at the end of
quarter 4 2014/15. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 13’ is filed with these
minutes.
Concern was expressed that, although performance for delayed transfers of care was
rated green, largely due to improvements in acute hospitals, there were still some
significant delays in discharge from community hospitals. The Care Quality Commission,
in its recent inspection of Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust, had raised concern that
bed occupancy levels in community hospitals were high. It was suggested that the
Integration Executive could investigate this issue further.
It was noted that performance with regard to access to GP services was rated red,
although patient satisfaction levels in Leicestershire were higher than the national
average. The results of the latest national patient survey had been published the
previous week and the next performance report to the Health and Wellbeing Board would
reflect the survey’s findings. However, it was felt that this was an area which the Health
and Wellbeing Board should investigate further, particularly given the findings of the
Healthwatch Quick Poll Survey on the same issue which were tabled by Healthwatch at
this meeting.
RESOLVED:

9
(a) That the performance summary, issues identified this quarter and actions planned
in response to improve performance be noted;
(b) That the Integration Executive be asked to investigate performance related to
Delayed Transfers of Care from Community Hospitals and report back to the
Board on any actions agreed;
(c) That a report be submitted to a future meeting of the Board on access to GP
services.

210. Personal Medical Services Review.
The Board considered a report from NHS England which provided an update on the
programme to review all local Personal Medical Services contracts by March 2016. A
copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 14’ is filed with these minutes.
RESOLVED:
That the report be noted.
211. Date of next meeting.
It was noted that the next meeting of the Board would be held on Thursday 17 September
2015 at 2.00pm.

2.00 - 4.10 pm
16 July 2015

CHAIRMAN

10

This page is intentionally left blank

Health and Wellbeing Board Action Log

No.
158

Date

Action

Responsible
Officer
22/01/15 Healthwatch to submit the findings of the Special Toby Sanders/
Inquiry Report and visit to the Leicester Royal
Gillian Adams
Infirmary Discharge Lounge to the Discharge
Workstream of the Urgent Care Board for
consideration.

Comments

Status

The Special Inquiry report was released in July.
GREEN
The Discharge Lounge was visited on the 29 January
as part of the week Healthwatch spent at Leicester
Royal Infirmary (LRI). The findings can be found in
the report 'A Week at LRI, The Patient Perspective'.
The report was presented at the Urgent Care Board
on the 19 March, the recommendations were
accepted and a subsequent meeting was set up with
the LLR Urgent Care Programme Delivery Lead,
Sarah Smith to discuss how the recommendations
can be taken forward.

Cheryl Davenport The quarterly BCF target for Q1 of 2015/16 is 275.6 GREEN
22/01/15 Seek further assurance from partner agencies
about the actions in progress to improve hospital
delayed days per 100,000 population. The position in
discharge and the impact these will have and
April was slightly higher at 289.2.
refer any concerns to the Urgent Care Board.
On the snapshot date of the last Thursday in April
there were 11 peopled delayed due to ASC-only
reasons. This is a similar level to the position through
autumn/ winter last year. The comparable figure for
NHS delays (37) continues the downwards trend
noted last month.

159(c)

22/01/15 Integration Executive and Urgent Care Board to Cheryl Davenport Discussed at the Integration Executive in January.
consider how the Leicester, Leicestershire and
Rutland health and care system can achieve a
truly integrated approach to hospital discharge in
the medium term.
22/01/15 Integration Executive to consider if any
Cheryl Davenport This was discussed at the Integration Executive in
adjustments are needed within the Better Care
January.
Fund Plan in 2015/16 in support of the urgent
care system at its meeting on 27th January.

159(e)

11

159(b)

GREEN

GREEN

1

Health and Wellbeing Board Action Log

No.

Date

160(a)

22/01/15 Submit the draft Self Assessment and local
action plan arising from the joint Health and
Social Care Self Assessment Framework to the
next meeting of the Board for consideration.

160(b)

Status

Considered by the Board in March

GREEN

22/01/15 Submit a joint report from NHS England and the Louisa Whait
County Council to the Health and Wellbeing
Board as emerging priorities from April 2015
with regard to Winterbourne become clear.

Scheduled for the meeting of the Board in July

GREEN

161(b)

22/01/15 Submit an update on work to improve Child and Lesley Hagger
Adolescent Mental Health Services to the next
meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board for
consideration.

Considered by the Board in March and July. A further GREEN
report on the Better Care Together workstream for
the emotional health and wellbeing of children will be
considered by the Board in September.

162(b)

22/01/15 Submit updates on work to progress the Special Gill Weston
Educational Needs and Disabilities reforms to
each meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board
until March 2016.
22/01/15 Submit a report outlining the implications of the Gill Weston
Disabled Children’s Charter to the Health and
Wellbeing Board in Spring 2015.
22/01/15 Organise a development session for members of Lesley Hagger
the Health and Wellbeing Board to include
training on the Ofsted Inspection Framework for
Special Educational Needs and Disabilities.

Reports scheduled for all future Board meetings until GREEN
March 2016

162(d)

Responsible
Officer
Louisa Whait

Considered by the Board in March.

12

Comments

162(c)

Action

GREEN

This will now form a report to the Board in November. GREEN

2

Health and Wellbeing Board Action Log

Date

Action

Responsible
Officer
Janine Dellar

163(e)

22/01/15 Ask the JSNA/JHWS Steering Board be asked
to:(i) Monitor the action plans of the key health and
social care drivers and provide assurance to the
Health and Wellbeing Board that the collective
action plans will deliver the key objectives of the
Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy;
(ii) Measure progress against the key outcomes
identified in the Joint Health and Wellbeing
Strategy through the Health and Wellbeing
Board performance report on a quarterly basis,
with operational delivery led by the sub-groups
and their respective action plans.

164(b)

22/01/15 The Director of Public Health to liaise with NHS Mike Sandys
England and the Clinical Commissioning Groups
regarding GP engagement with the Health
Protection Board.

170(b)

12/03/15 Submit a report on progress with actions for the Louisa Whait
Joint Health and Social Care Self Assessment
(Learning Disabilities) relating to the issues
identified by the Board to a future meeting of the
Board.

Comments

Status

JSNA/JHWS Steering Board is delivering the actions GREEN
as agreed.

Further work is being completed to review the Health GREEN
Protection Board terms of reference. This has
included ensuring that at least one Chief Nurse
attends the meeting (on behalf of all LLR CCGS) and
plus representation from each CCG. The
representatives’ role will include feeding in/out any
GP/CCG concerns.
This will be reported to the Board in September 2015 GREEN

13

No.

3

Health and Wellbeing Board Action Log

No.
170(c)
and(e)

170(d)

173(a)

173(c)

173(d)

176(e)

Action

Responsible
Officer
12/03/15 Ask the CCGs to:Toby Sanders/
(i) develop a mechanism for receiving feedback Karen English
on the quality of health checks for people with
learning disabilities from service users and
carers;
(ii) confirm their target for improving the number
of health checks to be completed in 2015/16.

Comments

Status

These issues are addressed in the Learning
Disabilities and Autism update on the agenda for the
Health and Wellbeing Board meeting in September.

GREEN

12/03/15 Refer the safeguarding issues raised by the
Rosemary Palmer The issues relating to DOLs are being monitored
Joint Health and Social Care Self Assessment to
through the Performance Framework considered by
the Safeguarding Boards for consideration.
the Safeguarding Effectiveness Group on a quarterly
basis.
Better Care Together has established a leadership
12/03/15 Submit the report on the Emotional Health and Toby Sanders
Wellbeing of Children to the next meeting of the
board to direct the work on the Emotional Health and
Better Care Together Partnership Board for
Wellbeing of Children, co-chaired by Dawn Leese
consideration.
and Lesley Hagger. The draft terms of reference
were submitted to the HWB at its July meeting for
information.
12/03/15 Toby Sanders to identify a health officer to coToby Sanders
Dawn Leese, Chief Nurse and Quality Officer for
lead the work on the emotional health and
Leicester City CCG co-leads this work.
wellbeing of children with Lesley Hagger.
12/03/15 Submit a progress report, including data relating Lesley Hagger
This was received by the Health and Wellbeing Board
to safeguarding and adolescent suicide and
in July 2015
timescales for the completion of this work to a
future meeting of the Health and Wellbeing
Board.
12/03/15 Share the mind mapping product from the
Mike Sandys
Circulated on 15 June
Unified Prevention Board with the Health and
Wellbeing Board members for information.
Mike Sandys
A request has been sent to NHS England but a
12/03/15 The Director of Public Health to establish a
response has not yet been received.
formal relationship with NHS England for
developing the commissioning plans for
pharmaceutical services.

GREEN

GREEN

14

173(b)

Date

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

AMBER

4

Health and Wellbeing Board Action Log

No.

Date

177(b)

12/03/15 Refer the comments made regarding the LSCB
and SAB Business Plans to the Safeguarding
Boards for consideration.
12/03/15 Submit a further report reviewing the
Mandy Stott
effectiveness of the implementation of Phase 1
of the Care Act and setting out the requirements
for Phase 2 to a future meeting of the Health
and Wellbeing Board.
12/03/15 The Chief Executive of Leicestershire County
John Sinnott
Council to revise and agree with the CGGs the
target for the number of Emergency Admissions
into hospital within the Better Care Fund Plan
and to report the outcome of his decision to the
next meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board.

178(b)

181

Action

Responsible
Comments
Officer
Rosemary Palmer Comments have been forwarded to the LSCB/SAB
Business Office
This will be considered by the Board in November

Status
GREEN

GREEN

Revised target agreed and reported to the Health and GREEN
Wellbeing Board on 14 May 2015 (2,041 emergency
admissions).

12/03/15 With regard to SEND Reform, the issues relating Gill Weston
to integrated personal commissioning be
considered by the Integration Executive.

Integrated Personal Commissioning was considered
by the Integration Executive in August.

GREEN

183

12/03/15 Officers to produce a formal commentary on the Rosemary Palmer Commentary has been produced and sent to EMAS.
EMAS Quality Account, based on this Board’s
discussions, and incorporating the views of
members of the Board who were not present,
and send it to EMAS
14/05/15 Submit further reports to the Health and
Jim Bosworth
Report now scheduled for November
Wellbeing Board biannually, with the first report
in September 2015, to provide assurance on the
implementation and impact of the mental health
policy changes and associated investment,
demonstrating how the investment has improved
parity of esteem

GREEN

190(a)

15

182(a)

AMBER

5

Health and Wellbeing Board Action Log

No.

Date

190(b)

Comments

Status

14/05/15 Commissioners to seek support from
Healthwatch Leicestershire in assessing the
impact of the additional investment in mental
health from the public’s perspective.
14/05/15 Submit a progress report on the work on the
Lesley Hagger
emotional health and wellbeing of children to the
next meeting of the Board.
14/05/15 Submit a report on the Leicester, Leicestershire Louisa Whait
and Rutland Autism Strategy and Action Plan to
the Health and Wellbeing Board in due course.

The report in November (item 190(a) refers) will
reflect this.

GREEN

203

Lesley Hagger
16/07/15 Ask the Leadership Board, pending the
anticipated publication of the national guidance,
to develop the Transformation Plan to draw
down funding for 2015/16 and delegate approval
of the plan to the Director for Children and
Family Services and the Director of Public
Health, following consultation with the Chairman
of the Health and Wellbeing Board and Cabinet
Lead Member for Children and Families.

This action is addressed in the report on CAMHS that GREEN
will be considered by the Health and Wellbeing Board
in September

205(a)

16/07/15

Mike Sandys

No comments were received. The Executive
summary has been published online and can be
accessed via http://www.lsr-online.org/leicesteshire2015-jsna.html

Mary Barber

The presentation given to all members of the County GREEN
Council on 9 September included a number of slides
setting out the evidence base for the five year
strategy. The 2015 JSNA was the source for this
evidence.

190(c)

193(b)

Endorse the Executive Summary of the JSNA
subject to any comments from members of the
Health and Wellbeing Board that are submitted
to the Director of Public Health by email
16/07/15 Incorporate the Joint Strategic Needs
Assessment, as part of the evidence base for
the Better Care Together Five Year Strategy,
into the briefing for all members of the County
Council on Better Care Together on 9
September.

Responsible
Officer
Jim Bosworth

Report was considered in July. There is also a report GREEN
on the agenda for the September meeting of the
Board
Report will be considered by the Board in September GREEN

16

205(b)

Action

GREEN

6

Health and Wellbeing Board Action Log

No.

Date

206(b)

16/07/15 Refer the findings of the Quick Poll Survey
regarding GP services to the Clinical
Commissioning Groups for consideration.
16/07/15 Include performance regarding ambulance
handovers in the regular performance reports to
the Board and any areas for further concern
highlighted through that report.
16/07/15 Ask the Integration Executive to investigate
performance related to Delayed Transfers of
Care from Community Hospitals and report back
to the Board on any actions agreed
16/07/15 Submit a report to a future meeting of the Board
on access to GP services.

207(b)

209(b)

209(c)

Action

Responsible
Officer
Vandna Gohil

Comments

Status

This action is still in progress.

AMBER

Andy Brown/Kate Performance data regarding Ambulance Handovers
Allardyce
will be included in future performance reports to the
Health and Wellbeing Board.

GREEN

Cheryl Davenport scheduled in for the October meeting of the
Integration Executive.

GREEN

Toby Sanders/
Karen English

GREEN

Report scheduled for the meeting of the Health and
Wellbeing Board in January 2016

17
7

18

This page is intentionally left blank

19

Agenda Item 5

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 17th SEPTEMBER 2015
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY
SERVICES
MENTAL HEALTH AND WELLBEING OF CHILDREN AND YOUNG
PEOPLE – BETTER CARE TOGETHER WORKSTREAM UPDATE
Purpose of Report
1.

Outcome 4 of Leicestershire’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2013-16 is
‘Improving mental health and wellbeing’ and includes priorities for children
and young people. The Health and Wellbeing Board has received three
previous reports about the progress of the Better Care Together work stream
with regard to the mental health and wellbeing of children and young people.
This report describes the current status of that work.

2.

The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to:
- note the potential funding that will be made available to CCGs to transform
services for children and young people with mental health needs;
- note the process and progress in developing the Transformational Plan for
children and young people’s mental health across Leicester, Leicestershire
and Rutland;
- note that at its previous meeting, the Health and Wellbeing Board agreed
the process for signing off the Transformational Plan – this will take place
during the first week in October 2015;
- note that NHS England has indicated a ‘light touch’ to ensure
Transformation Plans as they are keen for the work to commence. The
emphasis is on demonstrating a readiness to implement improvements in
year and to have a strategic plan in place that has the support of all
partners and can develop operationally over time.

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
3.

The national strategy ‘Future in Mind’ was published in March 2015. This sets
out a clear direction for local leadership across the system to work together to
improve mental health services and outcomes. Central to this is their
recommendation that local partners, through health and wellbeing boards
(HWBs), develop and agree a local Transformation Plan to improve children
and young people's mental health and wellbeing

4.

At its meeting in July 2015 the Leicestershire Health and Wellbeing Board
agreed that approval of the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland
Transformational Plan for children and young people’s mental health and

20

wellbeing would be delegated to the Director for Children and Family Services
and the Director of Public Health, following consultation with the Chairman of
the Health and Wellbeing Board and Cabinet Lead Member for Children and
Families. Similar arrangements are in place for the City and Rutland Health
and Wellbeing Boards
Financial implications
5.

Additional government funding has been identified as follows:
- £1.25billion over 5 years for mental health and wellbeing services for
children and young people;
- £150million over 5 years for Community Eating Disorder Services for
children up to the age of 18 years;
- £75million over 5 years for perinatal and antenatal mental health (this is
included in the BCT Maternity/Neonates and Adult Mental Health work stream
planning).

6.

The Transformation Plan will be used by NHS England to allocate and
oversee new money committed by central government to improve services
across the whole system, with a particular emphasis on prevention, early
intervention, and eating disorders.

7.

NHS England will allocate funding via CCGs. In the case of Leicester,
Leicestershire and Rutland this will be the City CCG.

8.

The new investment will include a ring fenced budget for eating disorders of
£533k and a further general sum of £1.3m.

9.

For 2015/16, money will be allocated in-year, which means the pace for inyear delivery is tight. The Transformation Plan has taken this into account
and has identified some ‘quick wins’ that will make good use of this resource.
This includes establishing a specialist community services for children with
eating disorders which offer NICE concordant treatment for up to 120
children1 and early help interventions.

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Transformation Plan
EVIDENCE BASE
10.

As a result of the engagement, mapping, and analysis that has been carried
out over the past 12 months the sub-region has been well-prepared to
develop its Transformation Plan.

11.

All priorities and actions identified in the Transformational Plan can be tracked
back to national or local research findings, including the views and priorities
that have been expressed by children and young people.

1

LLR referrals rose from 75 in 2011/12 to 112 in 2013/14.

21

OUTCOMES AND ACTIONS
12.

The Transformational Plan has used the 10 priorities identified in ‘Future in
Mind’ as the high level outcomes that it expects to achieve:
a) improve public awareness and understanding, where people think and feel
differently about mental health issues for children and young people,
where there is less fear and where stigma and discrimination are tackled;
b) meet the national and local waiting time standards for access to
community mental health services for children and young people;
c) deliver a step change in how care is delivered moving away from a system
defined by organisations, ‘a tiered model’ to one based around needs of
children and their families;
d) increase use of evidence based treatments with services focusing on
outcomes;
e) make mental health support more visible and easily accessible for
children, young people and their families;
f) improve care for children and young people in crisis, so they are treated in
the right place at the right time and as close to home as possible;
g) improve access for parents to evidence based programmes of intervention
and support to strengthen attachment between parent and child, avoid
early trauma, build resilience, and improve behaviour;
h) deliver a better offer for the most vulnerable children, making it easier for
them to access support they need when and where they need it;
i) improve transparency and accountability across the whole system, to drive
further improvements and outcomes;
j) ensure that professionals who work with children and young people are
trained in child development and mental health and understand what can
be done to provide help and support those who need it.

13.

The draft Transformational Plan has identified 30 separate actions that are
required to deliver the outcomes. These draft actions are included at
Appendix A. They will be subject to further strengthening over the coming
weeks.

TIMESCALES
14.

Guidance for the Transformational Plan was issues on 3rd August 2015 and
the final Plan must be submitted to NHS England by 16th October 2015 at the
latest.

22

15.

It is expected that the Transformational Plan will be a live document,
responding to needs as they arise, and continuously reviewing, refining and
improving its expectations.

16.

At the time of writing this report the Transformational Plan is in its fourth draft
and will be in its final draft stage and ready for sign off during the first week in
October. The final Plan will be presented to a future meeting of the Health
and Wellbeing Board.

GOVERNANCE
17.

A Leadership Board was established to progress the Transformational Plan
via the Women and Children’s work stream of Better Care Together. The
Leadership Board is co-chaired by the Leicester City CCG Chief Nurse and
Leicestershire County Council’s Director of Children and Family Services.
The membership of the Group was agreed at the last meeting of the Health
and Wellbeing Board and there has been good representation.

18.

The Transformational Plan is a ‘whole system’ approach to improving children
and young people’s mental health and wellbeing. As such it requires a
cultural shift that will include aligning and/or pooling budgets, jointly agreeing
priorities, and joint commissioning. Such change will require an ongoing
commitment from all partners to the Leadership Group that will drive the
required transformation. The Leadership Group will continue to report through
the Health and Wellbeing Boards, as well as through the individual agency
assurance and authorisation mechanisms. The Leadership Group will also
contribute to the Better Care Together governance arrangements as required
by virtue of being an identified work stream.

19.

NHS England in the East Midlands is in the process of establishing a task
group to oversee Transformation Plans in the region. LLR CCGs have
indicated their intention to participate in this group. The Leadership Group
has also invited NHS England to become a member and attend its meetings.

Officer to Contact
Lesley Hagger
Director, Children and Family Services
Lesley.hagger@leics.gov.uk
0116 305 6340

APPENDIX A
Mental Health and Wellbeing for children and young people. Transformational Action Plan

2015-20

Future in Mind Aspiration 1. Improved public awareness and understanding, where people think and feel differently about mental health issues
for children and young people, where there is less fear and where stigma and discrimination area tacked
Where we want to get to:
My family and I are able to look after my emotional and mental wellbeing and development day to day.
I learn about mental health and how to protect myself at school or college.
I am confident in talking about issues which affect my mental health

Lead

Timescale

1a) Commission implement and evaluate a public Directors of Public

A public health campaign and is

Commission Dec 2015

health campaign on mental health and resilience

effective in raising awareness and

Implement April 2016

promoting resilience

Review and develop 2017

Health

for children and young people
1b) Commission programmes of work within

Directors of Public

Programmes of work within schools Commission Dec 2015

schools and colleges to raise awareness of mental Health

to raise awareness on mental

Launch April 2016

health issues

health issues

Review and develop 2017
Complete during 2016-17

1c) Review current approaches and resources to

Directors of Public

Identify current best practice and

tackle bullying – including cyber-bullying and

Health

share across schools and colleges

maximise impact

23

Outputs

Action

Future in Mind Aspiration 2. Meet the national and local waiting time standards for access to community mental health services for children
and young people

Where we want to get to:
I will be helped by a specialist team quickly if my mental health problems are serious
Actions

Lead

Outcomes

Timescales

2a) Commission and establish a new

Director of FYPC

No child or young person will have to

Pilot 2015/16

“Access team” for CAMHS.

Services, LPT

wait more than 13 weeks from
Implement April 2016

Enhance service 2015/16

2b) Enhance the specialist service for people with

Director of FYPC

All children and young people with a

first episode psychosis

Services, LPT

first episode of psychosis will receive
specialist therapeutic support within

Achieve standard 2016 /17

two weeks of referral.
2c) Commission and establish a community based

CCG CAMHS

All children and young people with an Commission Sept 2015

eating disorder service for children and young

Commissioner

eating disorder will receive specialist Service commences April

people

support within 4 weeks of referral

2016.
Standard met 2017/18

24

referral to access CAMHS

Future in Mind Aspiration 3 A step change in how care is delivered moving away from a system defined by organisations, “a tiered model” to
one based around needs of children and their families
Where we want to get to
We can get support to help me overcome emotional and mental health challenges quickly and locally, without being stigmatised. I will have
choice about the kind of help I would like. I and those who care for me will be listened to. I will be supported to become resilient and
independent. With my consent, services will work together with me and my family to give me the best support. I will be involved in decisions to
reduce or transfer my care
Actions

Lead

3a) Develop a multi-agency “first response”

Director of Children’s All children and young people with

Local
service young people and families with mental health Services,
needs

Timescales
Develop model Dec 2015

mental health needs can access help Implementation from April
quickly and easily.

2016 onwards
Review and develop
2017/18 onwards

3b) Commission and establish a collaboration of

Director of Children

There are a range of quality assured

Develop commissioning

early help mental health support services.

Services, Local

low intensity interventions offered to

model by January 2016

Authorities

children, young people and families

Implement June 2016

3c) improve the support for young people

CCGs

transferring from child to adult services

Local authorities

25

Authorities

Outcomes

Future in Mind Aspiration 4 Increased use of evidence based treatments with services focusing on outcomes

Where we want to get to:
I will receive support which is safe, reliable and tested.
I will be involved in setting my own treatment goals and deciding if I am getter better
Actions

Lead

Outcomes

Timescales

4a) Review the range of therapeutic and medical

CCG CAMHS

A clear offer of therapeutic and

A programme of reviews is

interventions against best practice guidelines and the Commissioner and

medical interventions is set out in

conducted during 2016/17

evidence base.

LPT CAMHS Clinical

specifications and information to other Specifications revised

lead

agencies, children, young people and 2017/18

4b) Commission and establish the use of routine

CCG CAMHS

All commissioned services use clinical

outcome measures to inform clinical decisions and

Commissioner and

and service user outcome measures.

service developments

LPT CAMHS Clinical

26

carers

Lead
4c) Explore potential to access the national Children LPT Director of FYPC Have a clear plan to join the national

Aim to join the programme

Young People Improving Access to Psychological

for 2017/18 onwards.

Therapies Programme

CYP IAPT programme

Future in Mind Aspiration 5 Making mental health support more visible and easily accessible for children and young people and their families

Where we want to get to:
We can access trusted self-care advice when and where we like including websites, education settings, GPs and children’s centres
We can get support to help me overcome emotional and mental health challenges quickly and locally, without being stigmatised.
I will be able to make informed choices about the kind of help I would like.
Lead

Outcomes

Timescales

5a) Develop information and advice services

Directors of Public

A range of ways for children, young

Ongoing

including social media, mobile communication and

Health

people and carers to find information

face-to-face.

and advice about mental health
issues.

5b) Provide and publicise a clear local offer of

Directors of Children’s Local offer of services prepared and March 2016 and annually

services for children their families including mental health
Services,
and Local
wellbeing services

publicised annually

authorities

5c) Ensure first response mental health services are Director of Children’s Young people and carers can access Develop model Dec 2015
easily accessible for young people and carers.

services. CAMHS
Commissioner

help and support quickly and locally , Implementation from April
2016 onwards

27

Actions

Future In Mind Aspiration 6 Improved care for children and young people in crisis, so they are treated in the right place at the right time and as
close to home as possible
Where we want to get to:
I will be helped by a specialist team quickly if my mental health problems are serious. Organisations will work together to support me. I will be
seen promptly if I attend the Emergency Department. I will not be judged by staff for my mental health problems. I will be able to access a bed
within a reasonable distance from home. I will be supported to return home safely as soon as possible.
Actions

Lead

Outcomes

Timescales

6a) Commission and deliver a multi-agency home

CCG Commissioning Children and their carers are

Develop model Nov 2015

treatment and crisis response service

LPT CAMHS

supported during times of crisis.

Commission December 2015

Less inappropriate use of the

Commence April 2016

There will be a designated place

6b) Create a designated place of safety for

CCG Mental health

children and young people detained by the Police

Commissioning Lead where the police can take a child or

under sections 135 and 136 of the Mental Health

young person with possible mental

Act 1983. This is a shared action with the Crisis

health problems

Report on options Oct 2015
Agree and set up place of
Safety. January 2016

Care Concordat.

6c) Implement clear multi-agency protocols to co-

CCG Commissioners Organisations work swiftly together

Autumn 2015 and then

ordinate services to support children and their

to support child and family during

reviewed on three monthly

families in a mental health crisis

mental health crisis

basis.

28

emergency services and ED

Aspiration 7 Improved access for parents to evidence based programmes of intervention and support to strengthen attachment between parent
and child, avoid early trauma, build resilience, and improve behavior

Where we want to get to: All parents, particularly those vulnerable to mental health problems, have access to effective programmes of
intervention and support. Perinatal support and advice is available for all mothers

Lead

Outcomes

Timescales

7a) Ensure that the health visitors service delivered

Directors of Public

All new mothers receive advice and

Review spec Jan 2016

perinatal mental health advice and support.

Health

support around their mental health

Implement April 2016

7b) Commission a range of parental support

Directors of Children’s Parents in need of additional

Review current services in

programmes across all regions and ages

Services

Autumn 2015 for

support will receive it.

commissioning for April 2016
7c) Commission attachment training and trauma

Directors of Children’s School and children’s centre staff

Commission March 2016

recognition training for schools and children’s

Services

Commence training October

centres

understand attachment and trauma

2016

29

Actions

Future in Mind Aspiration 8 A better offer for the most vulnerable children, making it easier for them to access support they need when and
where they need it

Where we want to get to:
We can get high quality support to help me overcome emotional and mental health challenges quickly and locally, without being stigmatised.
I will be able to make informed choices about the kind of help I would like. I and those who care for me will be listened to.
I will be supported to become resilient and independent. I and my carers will be helped to navigate the system and services.
I am involved in peer support groups and community networks in my area.

Actions

Lead

Timescales

8a) Review capacity of services to support and guide CCG CAMHS

Identify where additional capacity is

Review in Nov 2016

vulnerable children and young people

needed to support vulnerable

Revise specifications Jan

children

2016

Commissioner

8b) Commission and establish peer support

Local Authorities

Vulnerable children and young

Commission services to

networks for vulnerable children (eg young carers,

Voluntary and

people have access to facilitated

commence April 2016

gay and lesbian young people, young refugees and asylum
community groups

peer support networks.

seekers)
8c) Review current provision to ensure that issues

CCG and Local

Ensure that all services are

of equality and diversity are addressed within all

Authority

accessible, do not discriminate on

commissioned services

Commissioners

irrelevant considerations and
promote diversity

Current review 2016/17

30

Outcomes

Aspiration 9 Improved transparency and accountability across the whole system, to drive further improvements in outcomes

Where we want to get to:
I am confident in talking about issues which affect my mental health. My views and experience will help to improve care for others
Lead

Outcomes

9a) Set up ways of capturing the views and

CCG

Strategic plans have been directly

experiences of children, young people, and carers.

Local authorities

influenced by the views and

Timescales

31

Actions

experience of children young people

Use this to shape strategic plans

and carers
9b) Establish a specific stakeholder group including CCG

Stakeholder Group influences and

children, young people and carers for the

informs the transformational plan.

Local Authorities

First meeting October 2015

transformational plan
9c) Consult the public on the Transformational Plan CCGs

Public consultation and reporting on

and report on progress at regular intervals.

the Transformational Plan

Commence November 2015

Aspiration 10 Professionals who work with children and young people are trained in child development and mental health and understand what
can be done to provide help and support those who need it

Where we want to get to:
We can get high quality support to help me overcome emotional and mental health challenges quickly and locally, without being stigmatised.
I and those who care for me will be listened to. With my consent, services will work together with me and my family to give us the best support.
A skilled, experienced and knowledgeable workforce across all organisations who have access to training and advice on child mental health and
how to access specialist support

Actions

Lead

Timescales

10a) Develop a child mental health training strategy To be confirmed

A child mental health training

Review Autumn 2015 re-

and commission a partnership training programme

strategy and programme is in place

commission to start in April
2016

10b) Support front-line practitioners through case

Director of FYPC

based support and practitioner help-lines

Front-line practitioners have greater Ongoing
confidence and skills to support
children and young people with
mental

10c) Establish consistent use of the MindEd on-line Local authorities

Incorporate the MindEd training

training programme on child mental health

module into staff development
programmes

April 2016

32

Outcomes

33

34

This page is intentionally left blank

35

Agenda Item 6

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 17 SEPTEMBER 2015
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ADULTS AND COMMUNITIES
LEARNING DISABILITIES AND AUTISM
Purpose of report
1.

The purpose of this report is to update the Board on progress in relation to the:
•
•
•

Joint Health and Social Care Assessment for Learning Disability;
Transforming Care; and
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) Autism Strategy and Action
Plan.

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
2.

The findings of the Joint Health and Social Care Self-Assessment for Learning
Disability were presented in March 2015 by a family carer and a person with a
learning disability. Two actions were proposed:
•
•

To develop a feedback mechanism on the quality of Health Checks;
Improve the number of health checks completed in 2015/16.

3.

The findings of the Joint Health and Social Care Self-Assessment for Autism
were presented in May 2015. The Board was asked to note the development of
an LLR Autism Strategy and Action Plan.

4.

The Board received an update on the progress of the Transforming Care
agenda in January 2015 and details of a Department of Health (DH) Grant to
support the development of long and short term accommodation to reduce
admissions/facilitate discharge of people with learning disabilities and/or autism
from mental health hospitals.

Background
Transforming Care
5.

In the autumn of 2014, NHS England announced the introduction of a
programme of Care and Treatment reviews (CTR). The CTR process provided
a mechanism for commissioning organisations to check the suitability of the
inpatient status of everyone with a learning disability and/or autism with
challenging behaviour in a mental health hospital for people with learning
disabilities.

36

6.

In August 2015, NHS England announced that Care and Treatment reviews are
to become business as usual. In addition to the Care and Treatment review
process Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) are expected to hold an ‘at
risk’ register which identifies anyone - including children and young people with
learning disabilities and/or autism who are at risk of admission to an inpatient
mental health setting.

7.

In December 2014, the DH awarded Leicestershire County Council, on behalf
of Leicester City Council, Rutland County Council and the three area CCGs
£391,000 to support the development of accommodation to facilitate the
effective discharge of people with learning disabilities and/or autism in inpatient
Mental Health settings. In total, five tenancies will be made available as a
result of the Grant. Three long term tenancies and two short term tenancies
across 2 sites.

8.

The focus of the project is on the development of two flats which will be leased
on a short term tenancy which will provide access to specialist intensive
support to facilitate discharges from mental health hospitals or reduce the risk
of admission. The flats are expected to be ready for first tenants from
December 2015.

9.

The project forms part of the Better Care Together Learning Disability work
stream and is an integral part of plans to reduce the use of beds in the Agnes
Unit.

Autism
10. The national thematic analysis of the Autism Self-Assessment has not yet been
published. It is expected that Leicestershire will achieve an overall rating of
Amber.
11. Revised statutory guidance on the 2010 Autism Act was published in March
2015. The purpose of the revised guidance was to ensure the approach for the
support of people with autism is aligned to the Care Act (2014).
12. The statutory guidance called for areas to have local area Autism Partnership
Boards. The LLR Autism Strategy Board has revised its terms of reference and
became the LLR Autism Partnership Board in July 2015.
Progress
Joint Health and Social Care Self-Assessment Framework
13. A national thematic analysis of the Joint Health and Social Care SelfAssessment for people with learning disabilities was published in June 2015.
The overall rating given to Leicestershire by Public Health England on the
provision of services for people learning disabilities was Amber.
14. To develop a feedback mechanism on the quality of Health Checks;

37

•

•

•

An easy read Health Check booklet is being produced to enable people
with learning disabilities to understand what to expect. Due for publication
in November.
The Learning Disability Primary Care liaison nurses (PCLN’s) will be
setting up a focus group with people with learning disabilities to get more
detailed feedback on health checks
An article about Health checks will be included in the Leicestershire Family
Voices publication

15. Improve the number of health checks completed in 2015/16.
• A target has been agreed has been agreed for both East Leicestershire
and Rutland and West Leicestershire CCG’s
• In quarter 1, 35 checks were completed in the East Leicestershire and
Rutland CCG area, 63 checks completed in the West Leicestershire CCG
area. (Data from previous years indicate that GP’s tend to focus on
completing annual health checks in quarters 3 & 4)

Transforming Care
16. Inpatient status as of 26 August 2015; (where actuals are less than five they
are not quoted as they are classed as personal identifiable data):
•
•
•

There are less than five Leicestershire residents in the local Assessment
and Treatment Unit as of 26 August 2015;
There are less than 5 Leicestershire residents in Alternate Hospital
Placements (AHP’s);
There are less than 5 Leicestershire residents in low secure settings in the
East Midlands commissioned by NHS England

17. The CCG’s and Leicestershire County Council continue to work together to meet
the requirements of the Care and Treatment review process including the
development of an all age at risk register.
18. 2 properties have been purchased using the Dh Capital Grant. Partners across
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland have been working to establish working
protocols and agree an allocation process which will effectively support people
who come under the Transforming Care agenda.

Autism
19. An LLR Autism strategy and action plan is being finalised. The key actions from
the strategy are:
•
•

Expand and enhance preventative and early intervention support for
people with Autism or suspected Autism;
Revise the workforce plan to ensure the workforce outside of health and
social care understand the needs of people with Autism;

38

•
•
•

Work with the Criminal Justice system to improve knowledge and access
to assessment and support;
Ensure the Local Offer is reflective of the needs of young people with
Autism;
Ensure the needs of older people, people from Black and Ethnic Minority
Communities (BME) and women with autism are understood and planned
for.

Consultation/Patient and Public Involvement
20. People with learning disabilities and family carers supported the process to
develop the ratings for the Learning Disability Self-Assessment, a short
questionnaire was sent out via the Learning Disability Partnership Board with a
small focus group then conducting a review and challenge. A family carer and
person with a learning disability presented their views on services to the Health
and Well Being Board in March 2015.
21. People with Autism and family carers are represented on the LLR Autism
Partnership Board.
Conclusions/Recommendations
22. The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to consider and comment on the
progress on the development of provision for people with learning disabilities
and autism.
Background papers
Care and Treatment Review: Policy and Guidance May 2015
http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/06/ctr-policy.pdf
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure
23. The report is relevant to all areas of Leicestershire.
Officer to Contact
Jon Wilson, Director of Adults and Communities
Adults and Communities Department
Telephone: 0116 3057454
Email:
jon.wilson@leics.gov.uk
Louisa Whait, Strategic Commissioning Manager, Learning Disability and Autism
Tel: 0116 305 0385
Email: louisa.whait@leics.gov.uk

39

Relevant Impact Assessments
Equality and Human Rights Implications
24. The draft LLR Autism Action Plan includes actions to understand the needs of
older people, women and people from BME communities with Autism.
25. An improved uptake on health checks and action plans for people with learning
disabilities will support reasonable adjustments to be made enabling people to
access health services.
Partnership Working and associated issues
26. Leicestershire County Council is working with West Leicestershire CCG, East
Leicestershire and Rutland CCG, Rutland County Council, Leicester City
Council, Leicester City CCG, Leicestershire Partnership NHS Partnership Trust
and University Hospitals of Leicester, to develop provision for people with
learning disabilities and/or autism including the delivery of the national
Transforming Care agenda.

40

This page is intentionally left blank

41

Agenda Item 7

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 17 SEPTEMBER 2015
REPORT OF THE LLR SYSTEM RESILIENCE GROUP
NHS URGENT AND EMERGENCY CARE VANGUARD
Purpose of report
1.

The purpose of this report is to inform the Board of the successful application for the
Urgent and Emergency Care Vanguard Programme

Link to Better Care Together
Work stream
Maternity, neonates,
children and young people

Relevance Work stream
Mental health

Long term conditions
Urgent care

Relevance

Frail and older people


Learning disabilities

Planned care
End of life

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
2.

The decision to apply for the Vanguard was taken by the System Resilience Group
and operationally supported by the Urgent Care Board.

Background
3.

The Urgent and Emergency Care Vanguard is the 5th in the series of vanguard
programmes which focuses on new care models as part of the NHS Five Year
Forward View. The focus for this work is innovation and delivery against the key
themes of the Urgent Care Review by Sir Bruce Keogh.

4.

Each vanguard site will take a lead on the development of new care models which
will act as the blueprints for the NHS moving forward and the inspiration to the rest of
the health and care system.

Proposals/Options
5.

The actions set out in the applications reflected the priorities within the LLR
improvement plan and gives the system the opportunity to expedite these actions
over the 2 years of the programme.

6.

There were 5 key action areas which are outlined below:

42

7.

•

Integrated health and care, triage, navigation and hard scheduling: We will
create linked services across EMAS, NHS111, OOH and the local Single Point
of Access (SPA) services for health and social care that get patients to the most
clinically appropriate service, first time. This will reduce handoffs, avoid patients
repeating their stories and reduce duplication.

•

Consistent and networked local community urgent response, in and out of
hours: We will create a same day response team comprising general practice,
home based acute visiting and crisis response services, community nursing
services, Older Peoples Unit and urgent care centres to provide an extended
delivery service. This will be underpinned by care planning and record sharing.

•

LRI urgent care front door ambulatory assessment model: We will redesign
the front door to provide an enhanced senior clinical assessment team with
direct referral access to ambulatory clinics, UHL assessment beds and the
ability to refer patients to the UCC, ED or back into primary/ community
services. The new ED floor layout (open early 2016) will support this.

•

System-wide contracting for transformation: This year we developed a local
‘year of change’ contract with UHL for emergency activity. Using our
experience of Alliance contracting we want to develop a new urgent and
emergency care alliance based model that incentivises providers to work as a
network. We will underpin this with new measures of clinical quality and patient
experience, expanding our UCB Dashboard to be increasingly whole system
and clinical outcome focussed.

•

Operational resource deployment through predictive demand, capacity
and activity modelling: We will work with the national team and locally with
IBM and Loughborough University Simul8 model to develop the demand and
activity model with a view to informing operational resource/capacity levels. We
will use real time data to inform our navigation services (1 above) and to provide
direct information to the public about service pressure and waiting times to
enable informed choices.

A team of 8 represented LLR at the Vanguard Launch event which took place on the
27th August. This event set the tone of expectation for the Vanguards, set out the
engagement and support available from the national teams along with tools to
support.

Next Steps
•
•
•
•
•
•

Review each of the work themes to add clarity and detail.
Include Mental Health – crisis response for all ages to the actions in line with the
national Vanguard requirements
Identify the opportunities to work with other Vanguards and the National Team.
Review capacity and alignment to existing work streams in order to integrate the work
into urgent care programme plan
Establish governance framework to support the Vanguard modelling, delivery and
reporting.
Prepare for site visit by the Vanguard programme manager on the 23rd October.

43

Consultation/Patient and Public Involvement
8.

A representative from Health Watch was part of the 8 representatives who attended
the Vanguard launch and are an active member of the strategic group of the Urgent
Care Board.

Resource Implications
9.

There is National funding to support the Vanguards – as part of the process for
working up the actions will be a financial analysis of resources required to expedite
delivery of the actions and capacity requirements to support the Vanguard delivery
requirements.

Timetable for Decisions
10. N/A
Conclusions/Recommendations
11. The Board are asked to receive the briefing for information
Officer to Contact
Jane Taylor
Emergency Care Director – LLR
List of Appendices
NHS England information release on the LLR Vanguard Model

44

This page is intentionally left blank

45

New Care Models

England

Leicester, Leicestershire
and Rutland System
Resilience Group

Population:

1.1million

Our care model:

What we are doing:

Our vision is for a new urgent and emergency care (UEC) model
that blurs organisational boundaries, with defined outcomes and
is responsive to the needs of our diverse city / county population.
Our model will be replicable nationally.

We will create a new alliance-based urgent and emergency care system
where all providers work as one network. This will bring together
ambulance, NHS 111, out-of-hours and single point of access services to
ensure that patients get the right care, first time.

We will create a new urgent and emergency care alliance-based
agreement where all providers work as one network.

The network will include a same-day response team with GPs, acute
home-visiting and crisis response services, community nursing, older
peoples’ assessment unit and urgent care centres.

The network will mean linked services across ambulance, NHS
111, out-of-hours and our single point of access services that get
patients the right care, first time.
The network will also include a same-day response team with
GPs, acute home-visiting and crisis response services, community
nursing, an older peoples’ assessment unit and urgent care centres.
We will redesign the city hospital’s UEC front door with an
assessment team who can refer to ambulatory clinics, assessment
beds, an on-the-spot urgent care centre, emergency department
or primary / community care. Leicester’s new emergency
department floor will open in 2016.
We will work with the national team, IBM and Loughborough
University to develop our demand and activity model, using realtime data to inform providers’ and patients’ choices.
Our vision forms part of a five-year whole-system reconfiguration
plan signed up to by all local commissioners and providers.
We seek learning from other vanguards, contracting and technical
support, early implementer status, transformational funding.

For more
information contact:
Toby Sanders, Chair of the System Resilience Group
Tel: 01509 567740
Email: toby.sanders@westleicestershireccg.nhs.uk

University of Leicester Hospitals NHS Trust (UHL) runs the largest
single site A&E department outside of London. In 2016, the hospital’s
urgent and emergency care front door will be re-launched to include
an assessment team with the ability to refer patients to ambulatory
clinics, assessment beds, on-the-spot urgent care centres or primary or
community care.

Our partners:
 Leicester City, East Leicestershire
& Rutland and West Leicestershire
Clinical Commissioning Groups
 The three upper tier local
authorities (Leicester City,
Leicestershire County, and
Rutland County)
 Arriva (patient transport service)
 University Hospitals of Leicester
NHS Trust

 East Midlands Ambulance Service
(EMAS)
 Leicestershire Partnership NHS
Trust
 George Elliott (LRI Urgent Care
Centre)
 CNCS (GP out of hours /
Loughborough UCC)
 DHU (NHS 111)
 SSAFA (acute visiting services)

#FutureNHS

46

This page is intentionally left blank

47

Agenda Item 8

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 17 SEPTEMBER 2015
REPORT OF HEALTHWATCH LEICESTERSHIRE
ANNUAL REVIEW 2014 -15
Purpose of report
1. The purpose of this report is to present Healthwatch Leicestershire’s (HWL) Annual
Review 2014-15 to the Health and Wellbeing Board. Healthwatch Leicestershire’s
purpose is to promote continuous improvements in local health and social care
services – improving outcomes for local people in Leicestershire. We believe that
the best way to do this is by designing local services around the needs and
experiences of local people. As the local Healthwatch for the County, everything we
say and do is informed by our connections to local people and our expertise is
grounded in their experience. We are the only body looking solely at people’s
experience across all health and social care.
2. In our Annual Review we report on our statutory activities over the last year and
demonstrate the impact that these activities are having on the commissioning,
provision and management of local health and social care services. We also
provide Healthwatch England with the intelligence and insight it needs to enable it
to perform effectively. We have complied with Healthwatch England guidance by
using the Healthwatch trademark and reporting on our statutory requirements
including meeting the 30 June 2015 submission date.
3. The full Annual Review is available at http://goo.gl/6hGMYj and there will be
presentation at the Health and Wellbeing Board meeting on the year’s successes
and highlights.

Link to Better Care Together
Workstream

Relevance Workstream

Maternity, neonates,
children and young people

Mental health

Long term conditions

Frail and older people

Urgent care

Planned care

Learning disabilities

End of life

Relevance

48
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
4. The County Council, following the Health and Social Care Act 2012, is required to
directly commission a local Healthwatch. The local Healthwatch in turn has a set of
statutory activities to undertake, such as gathering local views and making these
known to providers and commissioners, monitoring and scrutinising the quality of
provision of local services and a seat on the Health and Wellbeing Board.
5. HWL has become an established member of the Health and Wellbeing Board where
we are able to present evidence-based insights and findings reflecting patients and
the public views of health and social care services.
6. HWL also has a place on the Council’s Integration Executive that provides the
governance for delivering a £38m Better Care Fund (BCF) transformation plan to
integrate health and care services for the benefit of local people.
7. HWL facilitated the collaboration between Loughborough University and County
Council on the evaluation of interventions aimed at reducing emergency admissions
to LRI underpinned by the BCF and looking to develop metrics for measuring the
service users experience of integrated care. We are working with the Director of
Health and Care Integration and her team on the SIMTEGR8 project. HWL has
been given £8,000 this year from the BCF to support our engagement in the project.
8. We also use the intelligence we have gathered to inform and influence key
stakeholders to improve health and social care services via Participating
Observers and Representatives from HWL Board (and staff team) that sit on a
wide range of key Committees and Board. More details are set out in the Appendix
to this report.
9. The Chair for HWL is a member of the Better Together Programme Board and we
have carefully considered the Better Together Programme 5-year Blueprint and as
a partner recognise that the way health and social care services are delivered in the
future will have to change to meet the rising and changing needs for health and
social care service users.

Background
10. By Statute Healthwatch must produce a report in relation to its activities at the end
of each financial year. The report must address such matters as the Secretary of
State may direct and the report must be made publicly available and a copy has
been sent to each of the following:
•
•
•
•
•

NHS England
West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (WL CCG) CCG and East
Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group (ELR CCG)
Leicestershire County Council Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee
(who will consider the report at its meeting on 11 November)
Healthwatch England; and
The Care Quality Commission.

49
Proposals

11. We are working with Healthwatch England to develop a set of Quality Statements
to bolster the effectiveness of the national network (152 local Healthwatches) to
exert its influence to help secure better experiences for people using health and
care services.
12. The Quality Statements are based on the statutory activities, which local
Healthwatch are required to deliver. HWL is in discussion with HWE to pilot an
approach - further information on this will be presented at the Health and Wellbeing
Board meeting. Following the pilot HWE will then publish the final set of Quality
Statements for roll out in the autumn, along with the tools and guidance to enable
the network to make most effective use of the Quality Statements going forward.
Patient and Public Involvement
13. As a statutory watchdog our role is to ensure that local health and social care
services, and the local decision makers, put the experiences of people at the heart
of their care.
14. In the past year 2014 -15, HWL was in contact with 5,612 individuals across 200
different events and activities and exceeded its performance targets. The
membership has also increased by 66% to a total of 2,415 and the percentage
across all the districts had also grown from the previous year.
15. A key focus for HWL’s work is capturing evidence and insights from patients and
the public and these are in reports and publications, which have been well received
by stakeholders and Healthwatch England. The Commissioners have also
commented positively on the production of these reports for their readability,
accessibility and quality of the findings.
16. For the period April 2014 – March 2015, HWL has produced the following reports;
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Peaker Park Care Village Enter & View - April 2014
12 Hours at A&E - June 2014
Signposting Directory ELRCCG - June 2014
Signposting Directory WLCCG - June 2014
Lutterworth Country House Care Home Enter & View - July 2014
My Voice Counts Tour – July to Sept 2014
Patients view on Quality of services - Sept 2014
Winter Tour –November 2014 - January 2015
The key messages will be featured in the presentation at the HWB meeting
Glenfield Surgery Enter & View - January 2015
A week at LRI - January 2015
Ambulance Handover at Leicester Royal Infirmary Enter & View - March 2015

17. The Ambulance Handover Enter and View report is being presented to Chief
Executive for UHL on 23 September and the findings from this further endorse the
recommendations from the 'One Week at LRI – The Patients Perspective’
report that received Healthwatch England’s highly commended award for

50
making a difference to healthcare. The following are examples of some of the
feedback received;
•

Anna Bradley, Chair of Healthwatch England said, “We had a very high
standard of award entries this year, so Healthwatch Leicestershire should be
extremely proud of their highly commended success in the Making a
Difference to Healthcare category. The work they have done gathering the
views of local people to influence improvements to A&E services is a shining
example of how involving and informing local people in discussions and
decisions about local healthcare can really make a sustainable impact and
bring about long-term change to services."

•

Mark Wightman, Director of Marketing & Communications at University
Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust commented, “Healthwatch in their week
with us held a mirror up to the hospital and we saw in it the good, the bad
and the indifferent. This kind of feedback, especially when it’s carried out so
meticulously and professionally, is worth its weight in gold and we’re
delighted that the hard work of HW Leicestershire has been recognised
nationally.”

•

Claire Foreman, Senior Programme Manager, NHS England commented
on our report and said, "The report is excellent. I think it is probably one of
the best I have seen in terms of presentation and content and tone".

•

Vanessa Todman, Intelligence Analyst, Healthwatch England said,
“Findings from this report are communicated and referenced makes it very
easy for me to share the findings with national stakeholders and include the
findings in national reports. This is because it is clear throughout the report
where each piece of information has come from and the method that was
used to obtain each piece of data".

18. The 'One Week at LRI – The Patients Perspective’ report has also been
referenced in the successful LLR Systems Resilience Group Urgent and
Emergency Care Vanguard bid led by the Managing Director of WL CCG. We
welcome the opportunity to be involved in the proposed Urgent and Emergency
Care Network for the East Midlands.
19. Using its statutory powers for Enter and View, HWL has produced reports, which
have informed and shaped changes by the Care Quality Commission,
Patient Participants Groups and NHS England Quality Surveillance Group to
improve services for adults in health and social care settings. We have received the
following feedback:
•

The Glenfield Surgery commented, “Your visiting group identified a number
of areas where the surgery can improve its facilities and it was good to note
that they were already working on a number of the recommendations.”

•

Graham Martin, Chair, East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical
Commissioning Group, “We are pleased that Healthwatch continues to
make a valuable contribution to enhancing the quality of local health
services”.

51
•

Tim Sacks, Chief Operating Officer, East Leicestershire and Rutland
Clinical Commissioning Group, “It is such a useful report and provides us
with a great resource to add to our practice profiles and quality process. We
will discuss this at our next Primary Care Commissioning Committee in
public”.

Finance Implications and Timetable for Decisions
20. Voluntary Action Leicester (VAL) successfully tendered for the delivery of
Healthwatch functions and statutory activities – the 3 year contract started April
2013.
21. VAL has established a strong and successful partnership including the appointment
of Rick Moore as Chair leading the voluntary board working alongside a dedicated
staff team employed by VAL. The role of the HWL Board is to drive the strategic
direction for HWL and ensure engagement with all segments of the local population
in order to provide a representative voice for as many residents and health and
social care service users as possible in a way that promotes better outcomes for all.
22. The table below sets out the funding agreement and contract value for the first
three years for HWL:Original Contact Value for three years was £859,376 but during the contract
HWL has experienced a total reduction of £120,000 in years 2 and 3 due to
savings made by the County Council in 2014-15 and 2015-16. The revised
contract value for three years is therefore £739,376.
Financial Year
2013 –
2014 - 2015
2015 - 2016
2014
Original
£324,594
£267,391
£267,391
Contract Value
Changes post
The above amount was The above amount
award
reduced with an in year was cut by
cut of £40,000 to
£80,000 leaving
£227,391 with a further
HWL with
cut planned the
£187,291.
following year.
Comments
HWL projected an underspend in its
HWL has
first year of operation and £50,000
restructured to
was carried forward into year 2. The
accommodate less
County Council released £27,000 that funding and
was the former LINks underspend to
reviewed its
HWL. These resources have been
deliverables with
used to offset the impact of the cuts
commissioners
to maintain operational effectiveness.
( NB: The Year 1 allocation includes
Department of Health funds of
£50,000 for start up )

23. The current HWL Agreement started on the 1 April 2013 and is due to expire on
midnight 31 March 2016 unless extended. The Agreement also states that the

52
Council may extend this Agreement beyond the Initial Term (April 2013 – March
2016) by a further period or periods not exceeding 2 years (Extension Period). If the
Council wishes to extend this Agreement, it shall give Healthwatch Leicestershire at
least 3 months written notice of such intention before the expiry of the Initial Term or
Extension Period.
Recommendations
(a) Notes and receives Healthwatch Leicestershire’s Annual Review 2014 -15.
(b) Notes Healthwatch Leicestershire’s representation as Participating Observer
and Representatives on a wide range of key stakeholder Committees and
Boards as set out in the Appendix.
(c) Notes Healthwatch Leicestershire’s contribution to the development of
national Quality Standards for the Healthwatch network and the actions
required by the members of the Health and Wellbeing Board.

Officer to Contact
Name and Job Title: Vandna Gohil, Director
Telephone: 0116 257 5040
Email:
Vandna.g@healthwatchleics.co.uk
List of Appendices
HWL representation as Participating Observer on key stakeholder Committees/ Meetings.
Relevant Impact Assessments
Equality and Human Rights Implications
1.

HWL is aware that the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) applies to all functions of
public authorities that are listed in Schedule 19 Equality Act 2010. Schedule 19 list
does not include Healthwatch England or Local Healthwatch organisations, however
as bodies carrying out a public function using public funding we are subject to the
PSED general duty.

2.

Healthwatch Leicestershire is committed to reducing the inequalities of health and
social care outcomes experienced in some communities. We believe also that health
and social care should be based on a human rights platform. We will utilise the
Equality Act 2010 when carrying out our work and in influencing change in service
commissioning and delivery.

Partnership Working and associated issues
3.

HWL is working in partnership with the County Council and also with a number of key
stakeholders including WL CCG on their forthcoming ‘Healthy You, Happy You’
campaign in the Autumn and as a partner to the Better Care Programme we will
carry out public consultation mindful of the four tests to be met with particular
attention to those that focus on public and patient involvement:

53
• Support from GP Commissioners
• Strengthened public and patient engagement
• Clarity on the clinical evidence base and
• Consistency with current and projected patient choice
We are also keen to have the opportunity to be involved in the proposed Urgent and
Emergency Care Network for the East Midlands.
Risk Assessment
4.

The reductions in HWL’s funding for 2015-16 has been mitigated with agreement of
the Commissioners to reduce activity levels and targets for our planned programme
of work. We are also mindful to retain flexibility to be reactive on key health and
social care issues, which may emerge during the year.

Appendix
Overview of Healthwatch Leicestershire Representation and Leads

1

2
3
4
5

7

Frequency

LCC Health & Wellbeing Board

Bi monthly

1.1 LCC Integrated Commissioning Executive
1.2 LCC Joint Strategic Needs Assessment / Joint Health and
Wellbeing Strategy
LCC Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee
LCC Adult & Communities Overview & Scrutiny Committee
LCC Children & Families
Overview & Scrutiny Committee
LCC Carers Project Board
5.1 LCC Winterbourne Action Group
5.2 LCC Carers Champion Network
5.3 LCC Young Carers Multi Agency Network
5.4 LCC Learning Disability Partnership Board
LCC Leics & Rutland Safeguarding Board - Safeguarding
Effectiveness Group
6.1 LCC Leics & Rutland Safeguarding Board - The Engagement and
Participation Group
Public Health – Pharmacy Needs Assessment
7.1 Public Health – Quality and Clinical Governance Board
Quarterly meeting with: Director of Adult & Social Care
CQC – Information Sharing with LAs

Bi monthly
Monthly

HW Leicestershire
Lead
Rick More - Chair
Gillian Adams - Vice Chair
Vandna Gohil
Chris Faircliffe

Monthly
Monthly

Rick Moore
Fiona Barber
TBA

Quarterly
Bi-Monthly
Quarterly
Bi-monthly
Bi-Monthly

Pat Fraser
Anne Collier
Pat Fraser
Pat Fraser
Anne Collier
Sue Staples
Gemma Barrow

10
East Leicestershire & Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group
10.1 ELR CCG Co- Commissioning Board

Monthly
Monthly

Chris Faircliffe
Fiona Barber
Fiona Barber, Pat Fraser
Sue Staples and Fiona
Barber
Sue Staples
Sue Staples

10.2 Primary Care Strategy Board
11
West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group

Monthly
Monthly

Sue Staples
Fiona Barber

8
9

Quarterly
Bi monthly

54

6

Board / Committee

11.1
11.2
12
13

WLCCG Co- Commissioning Board
WLCCG Primary Care Strategy Board
Better Care Together (BCT) Programme Board
BCT – Public and Patient Advisory Group (PPAG)

Monthly
Monthly
Bi monthly
Monthly

13.1
13.2
14
14.1

BCT PPI – Frail Older Person work-stream
BCT – Planned Care Board
Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust (LLR)
Quarterly meeting with Chair of LPT Board

Monthly
Monthly
Monthly
Quarterly

Bi –monthly
Quarterly

17.

Monthly
Monthly

Vandna Gohil

17.1

Leicestershire Improvement and Innovation Core
Development Group (LIIPS)
Leicestershire Improvement and Innovation Steering group
(LIIPS)

Monthly
Quarterly

List of Board Members: Rick Moore - Chair : Gillian Adams - Vice Chair : Fiona Barber : Sue Staples : Ian Clarke : Anne Collier: Mina
Rodgers: Narendra Waghela : Alistair Wood : Chris Faircliffe and Vandna Gohil

List of staff members : Vandna Gohil, Director, Gemma Barrow, Development Officer, Ivan Liburd, Development Officer, Yachna Desai,
Information Assistant and Trish Latorre Communications Officer( p/t)

55

14.2 LPT Patient and Carers Reference Group
15
NHS England Central Midlands Area – Quality Surveillance
Group
16
University Hospitals of Leicester Board (UHL)
16.1 Quarterly meeting with Chair of UHL Board

Fiona Barber
Fiona Barber
Rick Moore
Fiona Barber
Mina Rogers
Alistair Wood
Fiona Barber
Chris Faircliffe
Sue Staples
Sue Staples
HWL co-ordinates the
Healthwatch LLR
meetings
Pat Fraser
Rick Moore and Vandna
Gohil
HW LLR Tripartite rep
Gillian Adams
HWL co-ordinates the
Healthwatch LLR
meetings
Chris Faircliffe

56

This page is intentionally left blank

57

Agenda Item 10

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 17TH SEPTEMBER 2015
REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT CHAIR OF THE SAFEGUARDING
BOARDS
ANNUAL REPORTS OF THE LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND LOCAL
SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD AND SAFEGUARDING ADULTS
BOARD
Purpose of report
1.

The purpose of this report is to bring to the Health and Wellbeing Board’s attention
the draft Annual Report 2014/15 for the Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding
Children Board (LRLSCB) and the Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Adults
Board (LRSAB) for consultation and comment.

2.

The report will be presented for approval to a joint meeting of the Boards at their
meeting on 16th October 2015. Any comments or proposed additions and
amendments made by the Health and Wellbeing Board will be addressed in the final
report before it is presented to the Board and subsequently published.

Link to Better Care Together
Workstream
Maternity, neonates,
children and young people

3.

Relevance Workstream
Mental health
✓

Relevance
✓

Long term conditions

✓

Frail and older people

✓

Urgent care

✓

Planned care

✓

Learning disabilities

✓

End of life

✓

Safeguarding cross-cuts all provision to children, young people and adults and
features as a theme in the Better Care Together programme.

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
4.

The LRLSCB and the LRSAB are partnerships that are required by regulation. The
LRLSCB is required as a result of the Children Act 2004 and expectations of the
Board are set out in Working Together 2015. The LRSAB is required as a result of

58
the Care Act 2014 and whilst the requirement to produce an annual report does not
apply to the period 2014/15 it has been common practice to produce such a report in
Leicestershire and Rutland for a number of years.
5.

It is a requirement of Working Together 2015 that the Annual Report of the LRLSCB
be presented to the Chairman of the Health and Well-Being Board. In Leicestershire
and Rutland we have, in addition, a protocol between both safeguarding boards and
the Health and Wellbeing Board that requires the presentation of the annual reports
of the safeguarding boards with an expectation that the Health and Wellbeing Board
will consider any implications of these annual reports for the health and well-being
strategies of both counties.

6.

The Business Plans for the LRLSCB and LRSAB are also presented to the Health
and Wellbeing Board and the Business Plans against which the annual reports are
written were presented on 8th May 2014.

Background
7.

Leicestershire and Rutland LRLSCB has been aligned to the Leicestershire and
Rutland Safeguarding Adults Board (LRSAB) for three years. They share the same
Independent Chair. The intention of alignment was to ensure that there are effective
and efficient safeguarding services in an integrated manner across the communities
of Leicestershire and Rutland. This has supported a focus on vulnerable children,
adults and families.

8.

This year we have reverted to presenting separate annual reports for the LRSAB and
the LRLSCB. The reasons are twofold. First there have been changes to the
statutory frameworks within which both Boards work that underline the need for
bespoke annual reports. Second, feedback from readers of last years’ annual report
suggested that the combined report was too complex and lengthy and risked
diverting attention from key issues in the children and adult safeguarding arenas. For
this reason two annual reports are being produced.

9.

The LRLSCB and LRSAB Business Plans for 2015/16 were presented to the Health
and Wellbeing Board on 12th March 2015. The Board will, therefore, be aware of
some of the strengths and areas for development that arose from the assessment of
performance in 2014/15 since this informed the framing of those Business Plans.
However, the Annual Reports provides a full assessment of performance. In the
children’s arena the annual report will be a key document for consideration when
Ofsted carries out its ‘Inspection of services for children in need of help and
protection, children looked after and care leavers’ alongside which a review of the
effectiveness of the local safeguarding children board will be undertaken. As pointed
out earlier Working Together 2015 requires the Annual Report to be produced and
identifies a range of issues that must be covered. It is, necessarily, a detailed report.
The LRSAB Annual Report is similarly a detailed document. For this reason we have
produced Executive Summary reports to assist readers in gauging the key
achievements and development needs arising from the assessment of the Boards’
performance across 2014/15.

10. The key purpose of the Annual Reports is to assess the impact of the work we have
undertaken in 2014/15 on service quality and on safeguarding outcomes for children,
young people and adults in Leicestershire and Rutland. Specifically it evaluates our

59
performance against the priorities that we set in our Business Plans 2014/15 and
against other statutory functions that the LSCB and the SAB must undertake.
11. In addition to the Business Plan priorities both safeguarding boards witnessed some
significant changes in the national frameworks governing their operation. In relation
to the LRLSCB the Department for Education issued a revised version of Working
Together in March 2015 that has required the Board to review some aspects of its
work. The LRSAB has similarly had to respond to new legislation primarily the Care
Act 2014 that has made the Board a statutory body from 1st April 2015 and has made
significant changes to safeguarding arrangements more generally.
12. The Executive Summary reports for the LRLSCB and LRSAB are attached as
Appendices 1 and 2. Full versions of both the Annual Reports 2014/15 can be
accessed at http://lrsb.org.uk/draft-annual-reports-2014-15
13. Each annual report is presented against a similar framework:
a. A foreword by the Independent Chair;
b. A brief overview of the local area safeguarding context with some key context
data;
c. An overview of the Boards’ governance and accountability arrangements;
d. Analysis of performance against the five key priorities in the 2014/15 Business
Plan which were to:
Priority 1: To be assured that ‘Safeguarding is Everyone's Responsibility’
Priority 2a: To be assured that children and young people are safe
Priority 2b: To be assured that vulnerable adults are safe
Priority 2c: To be assured that services for children, services for adults and
services for families are effectively coordinated to ensure children and adults
are safe
Priority 3a: To be assured of the quality of care for any child not living with a
parent or someone with parental responsibility
Priority 3b: To be assured of the quality of care for any adult supported by
registered providers
Priority 4: To be assured that our Learning and Improvement Framework is
raising service quality and outcomes for children, young people and adults
Priority 5: To be assured that the workforce is fit for purpose
e. An overview of performance in key statutory functions notably the Serious Case
Review Sub-Groups and Child Death Overview Panel – both of which are
statutorily required in the children’s safeguarding arena;
f. The challenges ahead including our Business Plans for 2015/16.
Proposals/Options
14. The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to consider the annual reports and to make
any comments or proposed additions or amendments to the report that will be
addressed prior to the final version of the Annual Report being published.

60

15. There are a number of areas in which it would be helpful to consider the Health and
Wellbeing Boards capacity to support the work of the safeguarding boards
particularly where the annual reports identify need for improvement across
partnerships that now feature within our business plans for 2015/16. Such areas
would include:
•
•

•

•
•

The engagement of NHS England in the work of the safeguarding boards;
The inclusion of safeguarding requirements in strategic, multi-agency and
individual agency commissioning arrangements as they apply to services for
children, young people and adults;
Safeguarding improvements that could be secured through the work of the
Better Care Together programme most critically in areas of service need
where safeguarding risk features as a priority in business plans, for example,
CAMHS and adult mental health, services to those with learning disabilities,
older peoples services;
Raising safeguarding awareness in the community;
Including safeguarding in engagement activities with services users.

Consultation/Patient and Public Involvement
16. All members of the Boards and their Executive have had opportunities to contribute
to and comment on earlier drafts of the annual report. In addition discussions have
been held with youth councils in both local authority areas to enable them to
contribute their views about safeguarding in Leicestershire and Rutland.
Resource Implications
17. Both the LRLSCB and the LRSAB are funded through budgets to which statutory
partner agencies contribute. The total budget for the LRLSCB is £326, 030 and for
the LRSAB is £102,610. There are no specific resource implications from this report
since agency contributions for 2015/16 are already agreed and remain at the same
levels as they stood in 2014/15.
Timetable for Decisions
18. The annual reports will be considered for final agreement by the LRLSCB and the
LRSAB at their meetings on 16th October 2015. Any proposed amendments or
additions proposed by the Health and Wellbeing Board will be considered and
incorporated into the reports prior to their submission to the Boards.
Conclusions/Recommendations
19. The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to consider the Annual Reports and to
make any comments or proposed additions or amendments to the reports that will be
addressed prior to the final version of the Annual Report being published.
20. The Health and Wellbeing Board is also asked to consider any action it wishes to
take in support of priorities for improvement that are identified in the annual reports
and in the business plans for 2015/16.

61
Background papers
The Annual Reports for the LRLSCB and the LRSAB are available on the Leicestershire
and Rutland Safeguarding Boards Website www.lrsb.org.uk
The LRLSCB and LRSAB Business Plans for 2014/15 are similarly available on the
website www.lrsb.org.uk
Officer to Contact
Paul Burnett, Independent Chair of the LRLSCB and LRSAB
Telephone: 0116 305 7130
Email: paul.burnett@leics.gov.uk
List of Appendices
Appendix 1: Executive Summary of the LRLSCB Annual Report
Appendix 2: Executive Summary of the LRSAB Annual Report
Relevant Impact Assessments
Equality and Human Rights Implications
21. Safeguarding vulnerable children, young people and vulnerable adults concerns
individuals who are likely to be disadvantaged in a number of ways. The Annual
Report sets out how the LSCB/SAB seeks to ensure that a fair, effective and
equitable service is discharged by the partnership. Likewise the Annual Report and
Business Plan 2014/15 extracts set out how the partnership will seek to engage with
all parts of the community in the coming year
Crime and Disorder Implications
22. There is a close connection between the work of the LRLSCB and that of the
community safety partnerships. For example the LRLSCB works closely with
community safety partnerships in community safety issues that affect the
safeguarding and well-being of individuals and groups e.g. domestic violence, drug
and alcohol abuse and emotional health and well-being. The safeguarding boards
also support community safety partnerships in carrying out Domestic Homicide
Reviews and acting on their recommendations.
23. The safeguarding boards’ annual reports include analysis of performance in a range
of areas relevant to the community safety agenda and the evaluation of performance
will be shared with these partnership forums to ensure that both strengths and
developments needs are recognised and acted on.
Partnership Working and associated issues
24. Safeguarding is dependent on the effective work of the partnership as set out in
national regulation, Working Together 2013, published by the Department for
Education, the Children Act 2004 and the Care Act 2014.

62

This page is intentionally left blank

63

Appendix A

LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND LOCAL SAFEGUARDING
CHILDREN BOARD (LRLSCB)

Executive
Summary to
Annual Report
2014/15

64

This overview summarises the key achievements, outputs, outcomes and
impact of the work of the Leicestershire and Rutland Local Safeguarding
Children Board in 2014/15. It also highlights the further improvements that will
be sought in 2015/16.
We recognise that the Annual Report has to be a detailed and complex record
of our work, so this summary is intended to be accessible to a wider audience,
and enable readers to understand the impact of our work over the last year.
The overview includes reference to the work that has been undertaken in
collaboration with the Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Adults Board
(LRSAB).
The information is presented alongside the key priorities in our Business Plan
2015-16.

Paul Burnett
Independent Chair, Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Boards

2

65

Leicestershire & Rutland Local Safeguarding
Children Board and Safeguarding Adults Board
2014-15
Local Safeguarding
Children Board
(LSCB)

LLR Child Death
Overview Panel
(CDOP)
Joint with Leicester

Safeguarding Adults
Board (SAB)

Joint LSCB & SAB
Executive Group

LLR Adult Executive
Group and LLR
Children Executive
Group
Joint with Leicester

LLR LSCB CSE, Trafficking &
Missing Subgroup

SAB Procedures and Development
Subgroup

Joint with Leicester

Joint with Leicester

LLR LSCB Training Delivery
Subgroup

Communication and Engagement
Subgroup

Joint with Leicester

LLR LSCB Development and
Procedures Subgroup

Joint Safeguarding Effectiveness
Subgroup (SEG)

Joint with Leicester

LLR LSCB Voluntary &
Community Sector (VCS)
Reference Group

Conjoined Serious Case Review
(SCR) Subgroup

Joint with Leicester

3

66

Business Plan Priorities 2014/15
The Business Plan for the Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Adults Board
(LRSAB) was combined with that of the Leicestershire and Rutland Local
Safeguarding Children Board (LRLSCB) in 2014/15. We are reporting separately on
performance this year. The priorities set specifically in relation to the LRLSCB were:
Priority 1: To be assured that “Safeguarding is Everyone's Responsibility”
Priority 2a: To be assured that children and young people are safe
Priority 2c: To be assured that services for children, services for adults and
services for families are effectively coordinated to ensure children and adults are
safe
Priority 3b: To be assured of the quality of care for any child not living with a
parent or someone with parental responsibility
Priority 4: To be assured that our Learning and Improvement Framework is raising
service quality and outcomes for children, young people and adults
Priority 5: To be assured that the workforce is fit for purpose

In addition a number of cross-cutting priorities were set, as follows:
x
x
x
x

x

Safeguarding services are coordinated
The voices of children and adults are heard
The voices of staff are heard
Sub-regional and regional coordination will be maximised
Effective communication must underpin all Board activity.

4

67

Priority 1:
To be assured that “Safeguarding is
Everyone's Responsibility”
The LRLSCB has met four times during 2014/15. The majority of Board members
have achieved the targeted 75% attendance rate.
There is a need to improve attendance rates from NHS England, the two arms of the
Probation Service and schools. This is addressed in the Business Plan 2015/16.
Partner agencies compliance with agreed safeguarding standards was tested using
the Section 11 audit tool. Good progress has been made by agencies when
compared against last year’s audit. Nine agencies are reporting improved levels of
compliance in relation to last year. Only one agency, UHL, has reported a reduced
level of compliance. There are no new themes for action that are emerging from the
results but individual agencies that are reporting anything less than full compliance
have submitted Action Plans to secure improvement which are being monitored.
All partner agencies attended the annual Safeguarding Summit thus enabling senior
leaders to contribute to the LRLSCB needs analysis and priority setting and to reflect
resulting objectives in their own agencies strategic plans.
The new Quality Assurance and Performance Management Framework became fully
operational during 2014/15. This aligns performance measures with the Business
Plan and tests impact in both quantitative and qualitative terms as well as against
service user and staff views and opinions. Contributions to the Framework now
extend across all partners whereas in the past we relied almost wholly on information
from the two County Councils.
The LRLSCB has robust relationships with other partnership bodies including the
Health and Well-Being Boards, Cabinets, Scrutiny Committees, Rutland Children’s
Trust and those individuals to whom we must report performance. These
arrangements have secured impact in terms of:
x
x

x

The models and contribution to safeguarding outcomes of Supporting
Leicestershire Families and Changing Lives Rutland;
Incorporation of safeguarding requirements within strategic commissioning
arrangements implemented by the Health and Well-Being Boards, for
example in implementing a review of emotional health and wellbeing/CAMHS;
Reciprocal challenge between the LRLSCB and Better Care Together
Programmes.

5

68

There has been significant joint-working with Leicester City which has contributed to
improved outcomes in relation to performance of: Child Death Overview Panel
(CDOP); Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE), Trafficking and Missing strategies and
Action Plans; workforce development, including the Safeguarding Competency
Framework; development of consistent policies and procedures in relation to singleassessment, thresholds and learning and improvement. Two major conferences on
CSE and Neglect were delivered in collaboration with Leicester City with evidence of
impact on future practice.
Partnership with the voluntary and community sector has continued to be strong
which has achieved: effective communication with the VCS sector; wider
engagement of the VCS in safeguarding training and development; greater clarity
across the VCS about safeguarding standards, policies and procedures; and
providing support in the delivery of safeguarding priorities across the VCS.
Steps were taken to extend opportunities to secure the engagement and
participation of service users including work with HealthWatch. Projects funded
through the reserve account included pilots to develop improved engagement. In
addition, we have worked closely with County Youth Councils, with Young Inspectors
and with school councils to understand and incorporate into our plans their
safeguarding risk priorities.
All relevant agencies made their financial contribution to the running of the LRLSCB
in full, providing the Board with a budget of £326,030. The budget was spent in full
as was a significant proportion of the reserve account that had been challenged in
the past.
Significant work was done to prepare for inspection which included:
x

x
x

Scrutiny and challenge of previous Ofsted inspection recommendations in
Leicestershire and Rutland;
Monitoring and scrutiny of inspection outcomes in other agencies;
Self-assessing LRLSCB performance against the Ofsted framework used to
judge the effectiveness of LSCBs.

The most recent versions of our “storyboards” relating to performance against the
Ofsted LSCB Review Framework are included in the Annual Report (and attached
for ease of reference to this Executive Summary).
The Board has maintained a “Challenge Log” to record and monitor progress against
challenges set within the Board and across partner agencies. Examples of
successful challenge in terms of impact on performance are illustrated in relation to:
Children Missing from Home; LSCB Budget Reserves; Private Fostering; and
Notification of the Placement of Looked After Children in Leicestershire/Rutland by
other Local Authorities.

6

69

Priorities for 2015/16
Our priorities to ensure that “Safeguarding is Everyone’s Business” next year are to:
x

x

x
x

x

Seek full engagement by schools in the work of the LSCB (including
independent schools), including assessment of their performance against the
requirements of Section 11 of the Children Act
Further improve the number of agencies that self-assess themselves as
wholly effective in the Section 11 audit, and strengthen the Section 11 audit
process through the introduction of a Peer Challenge element and a
subsequent frontline staff perspective on agency performance
Further improve Board effectiveness in scrutinising and challenging the quality
and impact of safeguarding children and young people in Leicestershire and
Rutland, particularly through streamlining the QAPM process
Sustain appropriate representation of partner agencies on the Board
Implement and test the impact of new national frameworks including:
o Revised Working Together 2015
o Keeping children safe in education

x

o Advice on information sharing
Ensure that home educated children and young people are safeguarded.

7

70

Priority 2a:
To be assured that children and young people
are safe
The LRLSCB’s focus has been to ensure that children and young people are
safeguarded across what Professor Eileen Munro described as “the Child’s Journey”
from universal support, through Early Help, support to children in need, child
protection and care. The overriding objective has been to secure effective early
support to avoid the need for children to move up the continuum of need and avoid
formal child protection and care interventions. In this quest there has been some
success but challenges remain.
In Leicestershire impact has included:
x

x
x
x
x
x

An increase in the number of children and young people accessing Early Help
including through Children’s Centres, Supporting Leicestershire Families,
Family Steps and the Youth Service;
Positive outcomes for those accessing Early Help with evidence that the
numbers requiring formal child protection interventions was reducing in the
latter half of the year;
Numbers of contacts and referrals have reduced across the year;
The number of children subject to a child protection plan rose in the first half
of the year but then reduced in the second half which suggests changes in
First Response were beginning to have positive impact;
The number of children in care has reduced by 5%;
The number of single assessments within which the child’s parents/carers are
the subject of domestic abuse has reduced by 18%.

There remain some areas of concern from our analysis of performance and which
will be a focus of our quality assurance and performance management in 2015/16.
These include:
x
x
x
x
x
x

Consistency of performance against timescales in statutory child protection
and care processes;
The need for further improvement in the timeliness of social work reports to
families for child protection conferences;
The need for a more proportionate number of multiple category child
protection plans and ensuring that categories of abuse are more consistently
reflective of the primary concern for that child;
More consistent use of the emotional abuse category of risk
Better attendance at Child Protection Conferences by the Police and some
schools
More coherent and robust data reporting in line with LSCB formats, and
aligned to the Signs of Safety approach, to enable practice issues and themes
8

71

arising from Child Protection Conferences to be more robustly identified and
enabling of developing consistency of good and outstanding practice.
In Rutland impact has included:
x

x
x
x
x

Consistent maintenance of the improved levels of access to Early Help
established in 2013/14;
Improvements in collaboration between Rutland County Council and health
sector interventions at Early Help level;
Successful outcomes from interventions by Changing Lives Rutland,
Children’s Centres and youth services;
A small increase in the number of children subject to a child protection plan –
33 as compared to 26 twelve months ago;
Reductions in the number of child protection plans relating to neglect, physical
abuse and sexual abuse.

There remain some areas of concern from our analysis of performance and which
will be a focus of our quality assurance and performance management in 2015/16.
These include:
x
x

The increase in the number of child protection cases relating to emotional
abuse
A dip in the % of Initial Child Protection Conferences held within 15 days in
the final quarter of the year – after a consistent 100% performance in the
preceding three quarters.

Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE)
Significant progress has been made in this area of work including:
x

x
x
x

Revised strategies and Action Plans that reflect and are benchmarked against
learning from Rotherham, Oxfordshire and the range of national reports
published by Ofsted and other reviewers;
Creation of a co-located multi-agency specialist CSE team for Leicestershire,
Rutland and Leicester
The creation of a coordinator role, part funded by LRLSCB
Creation of a comprehensive data set with analysis and supported by a multiagency auditing process.

In addition to the above, a wide range of work to raise awareness, improve
knowledge and understanding, support effective responses and practice is set out in
the report.
Key impacts include:
x

An increase in the number of referrals relating to suspected CSE;

9

72
x
x
x
x

Reduction in the number of children that go missing and in the number that
repeatedly go missing;
Increase in the number of return interviews undertaken with children;
Evidence that risk is being spotted earlier and the range of referring agencies
is widening – which is a good sign that awareness raising is working;
Increase in the number of CSE related investigations and prosecutions.

Domestic Abuse
During 2014/15 there has been an extensive roll out of the DASH (Domestic Abuse
Stalking and Harassment Indicator Checklist) across the partnership. Further
extensions to this, including training and development, will continue in 2015/16.
Two Domestic Homicide Reviews (DHRs) were undertaken which have resulted in
the development of multi-agency guidance to recognise risk and respond more
appropriately. In addition, a number of campaigns, such as the “How Many Times”
initiative, were used to raise awareness.
Work has been undertaken with the Police and Crime Commissioner to develop a
single specialist domestic abuse and sexual violence service across the sub-region.
Operation Encompass has been developed to support timely sharing of information
between schools and the Police.
Overall, there has been a reduction by 18% in the number of single assessments
within which the child’s parents/carers are the subject of domestic abuse.
Priorities for 2015/16
Our Business Plan 2015/16 priorities to secure assurance that childrenare safe are:
Improving outcomes for children identified by previous learning processes

x LSCB thresholds are understood and consistently applied across agencies

x Support offered to children and young people is proportionate to their needs

x The LSCB is assured that the quality of referrals is consistently good
x Increased quality of assessment

x Assurance of quality of professional supervision.
Early Help

x Ensure all agencies are providing access to Early Help services through
shared understanding of the benefits of Early Help.

x Ensure that Supporting Leicestershire Families (SLF) and Changing Lives
Rutland (CLR) are fulfilling their safeguarding responsibilities

10

73
x Consider the development of multi-disciplinary response at referral stage

x Ensure public awareness about safeguarding and improve public knowledge
about support that is available

x Ensure that the voice of the child is captured and feedback used to influence
service development and procedures.
Child Protection

x Monitor the contribution of all agencies to safeguarding and ensure that good
practice is disseminated, risks identified and mitigated

x Review multi-agency contribution to assessment at referral, child protection
conference and LAC review

x Conduct multi-agency audits and review summary reports from single
agencies at the Safeguarding Effectiveness Group (SEG)

x Seek assurance that partner agencies are engaging directly with children
involved in Child Protection Services and that appropriate action is taken as a
result.
Other Safeguarding Priorities – targeting areas of safeguarding risk
Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE)

x Increase in the identification of children and young people who are at risk of
child sexual exploitation (CSE) and reduction in the number who experience
CSE

x Effective prevention, investigation and recovery for children and young people
who are, or have experienced, Child Sexual Exploitation.

Children Missing from Education

x Children missing from education are identified, safe and supported

x Children and young peole who are not receiving their statutory education are
monitored to ensure they are safe

x Children that are home educated are safe.
Children who are Privately Fostered are safe

x Increase levels of reporting of Private Fostering arrangements

x Children and young people are appropriately identified and supported in
Private Fostering arrangements.
Robust Emotional Health of children and young people

x Assurance from Child Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) tier 1 to 4
is sufficient.
11

74

Military Bases

x Children living on military bases are safe with correct and appropriate
reporting measures to and from the military.

E-Safety

x Young people engaged in social media are aware of the risk and avoid risk
appropriately.

12

75

Priority 2c:
To be assured that services for children, services
for adults and services for families are effectively
coordinated to ensure children and adults are safe
This priority was introduced to test the effectiveness of safeguarding across the
children and adult service arenas and to gauge the impact of the closer alignment
between the LRSAB and the LRLSCB.
The monitoring and scrutiny of transitions of young people from children to adult
services has revealed that none of these young people had Child Protection Plans
and no complaints were received in relation to the Transitions Service. From a
safeguarding perspective, therefore, no concerns have been identified. The quality
of transition for the 152 cases that are open to the Transitions Service is of course
for other partnership bodies to assess.
Monitoring of adults that may pose a risk to children, young people and adults in
need of safeguarding (through MAPPA – the Multi-Agency Public Protection
Arrangements) has evidenced that the number of Level 2 and 3 offenders in
Leicestershire and Rutland is considerably lower than neighbouring areas largely
due to the adoption of the “Four Pillars” process.
Similarly the number of cases referred through MARAC (Multi-Agency Risk
Assessment Conference) is lower than similar areas based on the Safe Lives’
recommendations.
The LRSAB, in collaboration with the LRLSCB, has similarly carried out scrutiny and
challenge of Supporting Leicestershire Families and Changing Lives Rutland to
ensure that these programmes include safeguarding as a cross-cutting theme and
work to support a safer Leicestershire and Rutland. Both programmes have been
successful against their specific target outcomes which themselves contribute to
reducing safeguarding risk. In addition, there has been good evidence to show
effective interfaces between the interventions from these programmes and core
safeguarding policies and practices.
Priorities for 2015/16
Priorities under this heading for 2015/16 relate to:
FGM
Prevent
Domestic Abuse
Think Family approaches, including Supporting Leicestershire Families and
Changing Lives, Rutland.

13

76

Priority 3a:
To be assured of the quality of care for any
child not living with a parent or someone with
parental responsibility
Looked After Children (LAC) in Leicestershire
The number of Looked After Children has reduced slightly in 2014/15 which is a
positive development.
The majority of LAC reviews have been held on time which reflects continued high
levels of performance.
There have been improvements in the timeliness of reports including care plans
being ready in advance of LAC reviews.
However there is a need for improvement in:
x
x
x
x

Timeliness of reports to reviews is still not consistently good
The % of children that have contributed their views to their review has fallen
slightly from 94.2% to 92.8%
The proportion of Initial Health Assessments (IHAs) within 28 days remains
low
26% of children in care are placed in other Authority areas.

We have made significant inroads in securing better notification of placement of
children in Leicestershire and Rutland by other Local Authorities which was a key
concern last year. The Independent Chair has written to over 30 Local Authorities
expressing concerns about their performance in this area of work and we have now
secured clarity about all children placed here by these Authorities.
Looked After Children in Rutland
x
x
x
x
x
x

The number of children in care has reduced from 37 to 34
100% of reviews for children in care have been held on time
100% of care leavers are in suitable accommodation
100% of care leavers are in education, employment or training
25% of care leavers are in higher education which is considerably higher than
the average for statistical neighbours (8.8%) and the national average (6%)
A key area identified for improvement is health outcomes and, like
Leicestershire, there is concern about the proportion of Initial Health
Assessments.

14

77

Private Fostering
Concerns arose in the previous year about the number of Private Fostering
arrangements that the two County Councils had reported. A major campaign took
place to raise awareness of private fostering, particularly amongst universal service
providers such as schools and GPs.
The campaign has triggered some referrals but a number of these turned out not to
be Private Fostering arrangements so further work needs to be undertaken in this
area.
Priorities for 2015/16

x Monitor the contribution of all agencies to Looked After Children and ensure
that good practice is disseminated, risks identified and mitigated – most
importantly to see an improvement in Initial Health Assessment performance

x Seek assurance that partner agencies are engaging directly with children
involved in children in care services and that appropriate action is taken as a
result.

15

78

Priority 4:
To be assured that our Learning and
Improvement Framework is raising service
quality and outcomes for vulnerable adults
There were no Serious Case Reviews (SCRs) undertaken by the LRLSCB in
2014/15.
The Board was engaged in three SCRs undertaken by other areas.
A range of work has been undertaken to ensure that learning and improvement takes
place in relation to the findings of SCRs both locally and nationally. Dissemination
has taken place through:
x
x
x

“Safeguarding Matters” special edition
A SCR learning event
Incorporating actions within relevant training sessions.

We held a major conference on Neglect which had arisen as a key issue in a number
of SCRs we considered. A stream of work to improve identification and responses to
Neglect has also begun around the conference and will be completed in 2015/16
Over 160 people attended the conference which was very positively received by
delegates.
Two Domestic Homicide Reviews (DHRs) were undertaken and completed during
2014/15. The Action Plans arising from these reviews have contained specific
actions for both individual agencies and multi-agency operations. Specific
recommendations relating to the LRLSCB and LRSAB have all been completed.
Some individual agency recommendations were not fully completed by the end of the
year and will be monitored carefully in the current year.
We have seen improvements in the performance of the Child Death Overview Panel
(CDOP) in reviewing child deaths within timescale.
In total, CDOP has reviewed 75 child deaths. 30 of these deaths took place in
Leicestershire and only 1 in Rutland.
There have been some important developments resulting from the analysis of child
deaths in the sub-region including:
x
x
x
x

An awareness campaign relating to the dangers of disc button batteries
Addressing language barriers within 999 calls
Considering increases in suicide and self-harm amongst young people
Bereavement support.
16

79

A key element of our Learning and Improvement Framework is the new Quality
Assurance and Performance Management Framework that has sought to provide a
more holistic account of impact.
Priorities for 2015/16
The priorities under this heading for 2015/16 are to:
x

x
x
x

Ensure that outcomes for children and young people are improved through
the application of the Learning & Improvement Framework
Review the Learning and Improvement Framework to ensure it is Working
Together and Care Act compliant
Seek assurance that appropriate settings are receiving and embedding
appropriate recommendations from SCRs and other review processes
Extend our capacity to provide comparative quality assurance and
performance data to test performance in Leicestershire and Rutland against
national and benchmark authority performance.

.

17

80

Priority 5:
To be assured that the workforce is fit for
purpose
Training and workforce development has continued to be a key priority for the
LRLSCB to ensure that staff are able to deliver safeguarding expectations with
confidence and high levels of competence.
Key developments in 2014/15 included:
x

x
x
x

The introduction of a Safeguarding Competency Framework to guide learning,
evidence practice and support managers, implemented from April 2014.
An increase in the volume of training offered and the numbers attending – 66
courses have been delivered with a total of 1661 attendees – a 25% increase
on the previous year and a 116% on the previous year.
Attendance rates at training have improved to 84%.
Evaluations of training are very positive.

Extensive work has been undertaken with schools in Leicestershire and Rutland
including:

x A wide range of workforce development activity
x Termly safeguarding briefings for schools targeted at headteachers and
Designated Safeguarding Leads (DSLs)
x Completion of the annual safeguarding return that tests school compliance with
expected safeguarding standards
x Work on e-safety
x The role of the Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO).

Another test of effectiveness in this area is the rigour of recruitment processes in
securing safe recruitment. The Section 11 audit found that all agencies that
regarded this as relevant assessed themselves as compliant.
There are plans to increase the rigour and robustness of the Section 11 Audit
process in 2015/16.
We extended our reach in engaging with staff through our new website and the
regular publication “Safeguarding Matters”. During 2014/15 the number of hits on
the website totalled 102,590. 99 new pages were created and 116 new registered
users were created. “Safeguarding Matters” has appeared quarterly.

18

81

Priorities for 2015/16
The priorities under this heading for 2015/16 are to:
i.

Seek assurance from provider agencies that their staff adhere to the
requirements of the Competency Framework for safeguarding training

ii. Ensure that the workforce has appropriate level caseloads and are well
supported in safeguarding children and young people through reflective
professional supervision
iii. Ensure safeguarding training is relevant and effective in ensuring the
workforce has appropriate skills and knowledge in working to safeguard
children and young people.

19

82

Membership of the Leicestershire & Rutland Local
Safeguarding Children Board 2014/15
Independent Chair
Statutory Members:
Children and Family Court Advisory and Support Service (CAFCASS)
East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group
East Midlands Ambulance Service (EMAS)
Further Education Colleges
Head teacher representatives from both Leicestershire and Rutland
Hinckley and Bosworth Borough Council (representing the Borough and District
Councils)
Lay Members (Two people; one from Leicestershire & one from Rutland)
Leicestershire County Council
Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust (LPT)
Leicestershire Police
Leicestershire & Rutland Probation Trust
NHS England (Area Team)
Rutland County Council
University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust
West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group
Other Members:
Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Service
Leicestershire Partnership Trust: CDOP Chair
Voluntary Action Leicestershire
Voluntary Action Rutland
Armed Forces – Kendrew Barracks
Observer status:
Leicestershire County Council Lead Member for Children and Young People
Rutland County Council Lead Member for Children and Young People
Professional Advisers to the Board:
Boards’ Business Office Manager
Designated Doctor for Safeguarding Children
Designated Nurse Children and Adult Safeguarding - CCG hosted Safeguarding
Team
Legal Advisor for the Safeguarding Boards
Heads of Children’s Safeguarding Leicestershire County Council
Heads of Children’s Safeguarding Rutland County Council

20

x

x
x

x
x
x
x

x

x

x

x

A new Performance Framework has been created to ensure
there is effective analysis of performance across the partnership
that incorporates the views of young people, adults and frontline
practitioners. This is now embedded and providing a wealth of
information
Participation Strategy written
Consultation with Youth Council integral to business planning
A new Board Member Induction package has been implemented
Annual Board Development Days have reviewed and revised
governance structure as appropriate
All Subgroups have up to date Terms of Reference
Actions and challenges generated from meetings are captured in
minutes and monitored for progress
Chair is also a member of Leicestershire and Rutland Health and
Well-being Boards, Adult Social Care Safeguarding Governance
Group and attends appropriate scrutiny meetings where
appropriate

What has been delivered?

The governance arrangements enable the Board to assess
whether it is fulfilling its statutory responsibilities
Partners hold each other to account for their contribution
to the safety and protection of children and young people
To use its scrutiny role and statutory powers to influence
priority setting across other strategic partnerships, such as
the Health and Well-being Board

LSCB objectives

x

x
x

x

x
x

x
x
x

x

x

Board membership attendance is, in the main, excellent
Board members report that they are feeling more included
and valued
The views of young people have directly influenced the
content of the 2014/15 Business Plan; young people reported
that self-harming was an issue that they felt the Board
needed to have as a priority area
School survey findings have informed Business Plan priorities
The Chair is able to provide effective strategic influence in
other partnership arenas
The governance structure provides clear lines of
accountability

What has been the outcome?

The Performance Framework did not reflect the performance
of the whole partnership and provide enough information to
enable the Board to fulfil its statutory functions
“Board members not always feeling valued or being given the
opportunity to make a difference”
Inconsistent approach to Board members induction
Governance structure needed to be more effective
The participation of young people was not evident in business
planning

What were the issues?

Effective Governance and Leadership updated June 2015

83

x
x
x

x

x

x

x

x

x

x

x

x

x

x

Original East Midlands Regional Protocol, “Notification by Other
Local Authorities of Children Placed within Local Authorities in
the East Midlands”, was agreed and published in May 2013:
http://lrsb.org.uk/notifying-la
East Midlands Regional Protocol was reviewed, amended and republished in February 2015
The Independent Chair wrote letters to 16 Directors of Children’s
Services, challenging the effectiveness of their notification
procedures
Councillor Ivan Ould raised the issue of the effectiveness of
Children’s Services’ notification procedures through the LGA with
the DfE and the Minister for Children and Families
In April 2014, the SBBO commenced a liaison process with the
relevant Rutland and Leicestershire Placement Officers, working
with them to improve records regarding LAC children placed by
other LAs
A secure, effective email address for notifications has been
established in Leicestershire
The Leics & Rutland webpage on notifications has been improved

What has been delivered?

Priority 1: To be assured that “Safeguarding is Everyone's
Responsibility”
Priority 3: To be assured that services for children, services for adults
and services for families are effectively coordinated to ensure children
and adults are safe
To better manage risks in relation to Looked After Children placed in
Leicestershire & Rutland by other Local Authorities
To assist in reducing risks in areas such as CSE, Missing, Emotional
Health and Well-being
To improve communication between LA and LAC Nursing Service
To address recommendations from Serious Case Reviews
To respond to a challenge at the Board from the CCGs regarding the
notification of children in care status to primary community health
providers

LSCB objectives

22

x

x

x
x

x

x
x
x

x

x

x

x

What were the issues?

Regular monthly data exchange between Designated Nurse in the LAC Nursing Service and the
LSCB re ensuring shared knowledge between health and the local authorities of LAC where
health were not informed of changes within the 28 day standard

Improved LAC Nursing notification and provision

Improved communication between placement/notification officers across the region/UK

LAC are safer and healthier in Leics & Rutland:
¾ 331 children from 19 LAs have been identified as resident, had notification of their
status shared with relevant services and have had risk assessments carried out to
better secure their safety and well-being
¾ Quicker notification times have been achieved
¾ Fewer notifications have been missed
¾ The LAC Nurse Manager has complimented Leics and Rutland on their improved
service
August 2014 – the statuses of the 219 children placed by a neighbouring authority were
obtained: one had died, several had been adopted and many have left the care system
June 2015 – the statuses of 71 LAC from another neighbouring authority were secured, only
18 still resided in Leics
All cases referred to SBBO currently have been resolved (June 2015)

What has been the outcome?

Some Local Authorities were failing to abide by statutory requirements regarding notifications
when placing young people into Leics & Rutland Local Authority areas. As a result, risk
assessments were not being carried out
Leics didn’t have effective use of a secure email address for notifications
In June 2014, 219 LAC from one neighbouring Local Authority were recorded in Leicestershire
County Council records as still placed inside the authority even though some were now adults
In March 2015, 71 LAC from another neighbouring authority were recorded in Leicestershire
County Council records as still placed inside the authority even though some were now adults
LAC placed by other LAs were not receiving timely LAC Nursing Provision – one child had been
in Leics for 2 years without an adequate review of her medical needs for a serious condition
No or late knowledge by LAC Nursing Service of changes in circumstances e.g. movements out
of the service/children and Young people no longer LAC e.g. moving addresses of LAC

Looked After Children (LAC) Non-notification Following
Placement by Other LAs

84

x

x

x

x

x

x

x
x

x

x
x

x

x

Both Leicestershire and Rutland have strong partnership arrangements that
deliver an integrated Early Help offer
A new Threshold document has been published by the LSCB
Both LAs are reporting increased awareness of Thresholds and knowledge of
available services – positive feedback from staff on understanding of
Leicestershire and Rutland thresholds
Following challenge from the LSCB, new processes for managing feedback to
referrers have been introduced (Leics)
A new Performance Framework and reinvigorated SEG robustly monitors
partnership performance
The Board has asked for and received an explanation regarding timeliness of
assessment
The Board has requested and received regular updates on young people’s
participation in LAC reviews
The Board has challenged Private Fostering performance and has delivered a
publicity campaign aimed at staff
The performance of timeliness of Initial Health Assessments has improved

What has been delivered?

The LSCB provides a rigorous and transparent assessment of the
performance and effectiveness of local services
Areas of weakness and the causes of those weaknesses are
identified
Evaluate and where necessary challenge the action being taken
Have clear thresholds in place to ensure the needs of children are
correctly identified and receive the right intervention, at the right
time and in the right way.

LSCB objectives

23

x
x
x
x
x
x
x

x

x
x

x
x
x
x

x

x

The “front door” arrangements in both Authorities provide effective
decision making and triage by experienced social workers based on clear
thresholds
Both LAs are reporting a significant increase in the number of cases
engaged in Early Help
All referrals have been receiving response letters (from 1st June 2014)
Assessment timeliness has improved
Participation in LAC reviews has improved
The Board has a fuller understanding of performance and has ensured
the Business Plan reflects this. Both Leicestershire and Rutland have
strong partnership arrangements that deliver an integrated Early Help
offer
A new Threshold document has been published by the LSCB
Both LAs are reporting increased awareness of Thresholds and
knowledge of available services – positive feedback from staff on
understanding of Leicestershire and Rutland thresholds

What has been the outcome?

Whilst existing thresholds were in place for each Authority, guidance for frontline staff
was fragmented and confusing for partner agencies working across Authority areas
The Board was not fully aware of the extent of the Early Help Offer
The Performance Framework was not enabling effective performance management
Partners have reported to the LSCB they had not been getting feedback about referrals
Timeliness of assessments have been identified as a issues in Leics
Participation of young people had been noted to have dipped in LAC reviews
Numbers of Private Fostering too low
The timeliness of Initial Health Assessments has been an issue

What were the issues?

Performance - Across The Child’s Journey June 2015

85

x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x

x

x

x
x
x

x

x

x

x

Have a greater understanding of the extent of CSE in Leicestershire and
Rutland
Produce a local CSE strategy
Raise local awareness of CSE
Seek assurance that the risks for young people are being addressed
Disrupt and Prevent CSE
Ensure victims are supported
Ensure partnership arrangements are effective and in line with latest policy and
guidance
Develop a relevant dataset to give picture / profile of CSE Trafficking & Missing
across LLR
Increase / broaden Subgroup membership
Capture voice of children and young people to inform delivery of services

June 2012 - Following a series of task and finish meetings the Leicester, Leicestershire and
Rutland LSCB CSE, Trafficking and Missing Sub Group was established
January 2013 - launch of the LSCB CSE, Trafficking and Missing Strategy and the Missing
Protocol.
January 2013 - the Missing Multi-agency Operational Meeting became a joint one with the City
and Rutland.
September (DC) 2013 - the LSCB launched the CSE awareness campaign in schools with more
than 33,000 (DC) children targeted
During 2013/14 more than 500 practitioners from across the partnership have been trained
September 2014 - campaign for businesses launched, ongoing (DC)
Continued successful CSE prosecutions have been effectively publicised in the media, further
raising awareness.
The LSCB has provided funding to the CSE subgroup (£42K) to support the strategy
implementation
The co-located multi agency team has been agreed now exists and is staffed by LLR social
care/police with health soon to join
New leaflets - leaflets reviewed and updated 2014/15 for reprint
Subgroup membership broadened and increased
December 2014 – new and improved CSE risk assessment tool and guidance launched
Very successful LLR CSE Conference delivered February 2015 (excellent feedback)
Improved dataset over the 4 quarters providing profile across LLR
Chelsea’s Choice block-booked for Autumn 2015
New CSE multi-agency Practice Guidance consulted upon and will be published shortly
New CSE Coordinator funded and will start in June 2015
Voice work beginning to provide steer on provision of services
Increased number of subgroup members now accessing the NWG Network resources
CSE Training survey completed and recommendations made to the subgroup

What has been delivered?

x
x

x

x
x
x
x
x
x

x

LSCB objectives

24

x

x
x

x

x

x

x
x
x
x

x

What were the issues?

The numbers of referrals fell in 2012/13 to 54; however the numbers have
increased in 2013/14 to 85 as a direct result of the increased levels of awareness
amongst practitioners, children and communities. 188 in 2014/15, improved
quality assisted by revised CSE risk assessment tool and guidance
The school education programme has led to a number of young males making
direct disclosures of online grooming that are now the subject of an ongoing
police investigation
The quality of referrals has improved
The number of missing episodes in 2013/14 was 413 in Leicestershire (63%
reduction) and 11 in Rutland (70% reduction). In 2014/15 number of missing
episodes was 503 in County and 3 in Rutland. Roughly half of these would be
Looked After Children.
CSE dataset beginning to provide picture / profile of CSE, Trafficking & Missing
across LLR

What has been the Outcome?

In 2011/12 there were 93 CSE referrals to Leicestershire County Council although the
quality of referrals was variable
There was no strategic oversight of CSE and CMHC
There was no strategy in place,
No routine multi agency operational meetings taking place.
The first joint operational meeting with the police identified over 50 cases of children
where CSE and CMHC was a concern. At least 17 of these were deemed as high risk by
the police.
In 2012/13 there were 1100 episodes of children reported missing in Leicestershire
and 36 in Rutland

Child Sexual Exploitation

86

x
x

x
x

x

x

x

x

New minimum training standards have been introduced
alongside a Quality Assurance process
The themes for the training plan are triggered by Board
Priorities including findings from local and national SCRs
– themes have included: Domestic Violence, CSE
New Competency Framework in place for 2014
The partnership jointly funds a training coordinator role
for LLR
The “no show” rate has reduced from 16% to 10%
Number accessing the multi-agency training programme
of 67 courses/events delivered (compared to 52 and 30
in the previous two years) for 2014/15 was over 1650
which is over 85% up on previous year

What has been delivered?

Ensure that sufficient, high-quality multi-agency training is
available; its effectiveness is evaluated and the impact on
improving frontline practice and the experiences of
children, young people, families and carers is evident
All LSCB members support access to the training
opportunities in their agencies

LSCB objectives

25

x

x

x
x

x

x

x

x

x

The post training evaluation shows that knowledge, skills
and confidence have demonstrated sustained
improvement compared to pre-training.
Frontline practitioners across the partnership are able to
articulate examples of how the training they have
received has had a positive impact on their practice and
the way in which they are safeguarding a child
There is clear evidence that following training there has
been an increase in the number of CSE referrals
The new minimum standards and quality assurance
process is driving up quality and improving the
effectiveness of training
The Competency Framework has provided a platform to
ensure that multi-agency and single agency training is
relevant and effective

What are the Outcomes?

Multi-agency training was limited
The approach being used did not have a clear link between
priority areas for learning and the training programme
The training programme did not have a set of standards that
could be used to measure quality and effectiveness
Single agency training was inconsistent and lacked a
Competency Framework

What were the issues?

Multi-Agency Training Programme June 2015

87

x

x

x

x

x

x

x

All leaflets have either been revised or are in the process of
revision, these include: Private Fostering; Aide memoire for
multi-agency threshold briefings; Keeping Children Safe is
Everyone’s Responsibility – the core info leaflet; FGM leaflet.
Keeping Children Safe (quad fold) – info for parents and carers,
reducing the risk of harm to children in your household – about
drugs and alcohol issues
“Safeguarding Matters” publication has been refreshed and
continues to receive excellent feedback from staff across the
partnership and the country
Combined Adults and Children learning events brought over 200
practitioners and managers together to discuss lessons from
SCRs and the impact on practice
There has been active consultation with partners regarding the
content of information leaflets. Dangerous dogs leaflet has been
withdrawn and replaced with pets advice on safeguarding

What has been delivered?

As part of the Learning and Improvement Framework, the
LSCB aims to ensure that learning and information is
effectively communicated across the partnership
Communication methods meet the needs of children,
families and adults
Provide an effective communication platform for
professionals, members of the community and Board
members to access up to date information and policies

LSCB objectives

26

x

x

x

x

x

x
x

x

x
x

In April 2015, the website recorded 102,590 views throughout
the 12 month period
“Safeguarding Matters” has been accessed online more than
3,600 times
There has been a 30% increase in the number of times the
website has been used to access information on SCRs
The Learning Event and subsequent issue of “Safeguarding
Matters” have received recognition from “Community Care”
and Authorities across the country wanting to adopt the “20
things to consider” prompts
There has been much closer working between the LSCB and
CDOP to produce publicity materials – see the button battery
campaign

What has been the outcome?

The leaflets were out of date and looked “tired”
Lessons and information from key thematic priorities, such as
CSE, Private Fostering, needed to be effectively
communicated
“Safeguarding Matters” publication needed to refresh and
respond to feedback from partners
A coherent communications strategy needed to be developed
Some existing leaflets did not reflect findings from SCRs and

What were the issues?

Communicating Learning and Improvement 2015

88

effectiveness of multi-agency safeguarding practice

x The Performance Management process continues to
evolve as we work towards full understanding of the

• Audits
• Surveys

x A Performance Management Framework has been developed
that presents the required evidence in a structured way
x Service Level Agreements (SLAs) have been agreed with each of
the partner agencies. These agreements detail the information
their agency will provide on a quarterly basis in line with the
four quadrants
x The Performance report is compiled by the Business Office and
discussed in detail at the quarterly multi-agency Safeguarding
Effectiveness Group (SEG) meeting
x Highlights and risks from the performance report are agreed by
the SEG and then reported to the executive group and the
Board.
• Core data sets
• Strategeic
Audits
x Identified risks or missing information are escalated to
the Executive Group and Board as appropriate

What action has been taken?

x To be assured that “Safeguarding is Everyone's Responsibility”
x To be assured that children and young people (including Looked
After Children) are safe
x To be assured that adults at risk (including those in residential
care) are safe
x To be assured that our Learning and Improvement Framework is
raising service quality and outcomes for children and young people
and adults
x To be assured that the workforce is fit for purpose

LSCB & SAB Priorities

Voice of Front
Line
Professionals

Voice of the
Child and
Adult
• Feedback
• Participation

x The LSCB and SAB and constituent partners understand the
scope and trends about the effectiveness of multi-agency
safeguarding practice in Leicestershire and Rutland
x Audit work is now reported to the Boards – this has increased
their awareness of the voice of the child and feedback from
front line professionals and their managers
x Comparisons are evident with national and statistical neighbour
information – questions have been asked about Private
Fostering, Child Sexual Exploitation, children subject to Child
Protection Plans, timeliness of assessment, Deprivation of
Liberty Safeguards (DoLS), referrals re adult safeguarding
• Single Agency Reports
o The Boards are able to plan more effectively to
• Inspections
mitigate against risks which are identified
• Strategic and operational
Audits
o The Boards are held to a greater level of scrutiny
and challenge at a senior level because the
Quantitative
Qualitative
information has been gathered through the
Performance Management process
27

What has been the Outcome?

x The LSCB and SAB need to see evidence of effective safeguarding across
the partnership of organisations
x The information needs to evidence the four quadrants: quantitative
information (core data sets), qualitative information (audits, surveys
and reports), feedback and information from staff and the voice of the
child or adult at risk service user
x Good practice should be showcased and risks identified and managed
x The complete picture needs to be presented in an accessible format for
the Board and its Subgroups to consider

What were the issues identified by SEG?

Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding Effectiveness Group

89

90

This page is intentionally left blank

91

Appendix B

LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND SAFEGUARDING
ADULTS BOARD (LRSAB)

Executive
Summary to
Annual Report
2014/15

92

This overview summarises the key achievements, outputs, outcomes and
impact of the work of the Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Adults
Board in 2014/15. It also highlights the further improvements that will be
sought in 2015/16.
We recognise that the annual report has to be a detailed and complex record
of our work, so this summary is intended to be accessible to a wider audience,
and enable readers to understand the impact of our work over the last year.
The overview includes reference to the work that has been undertaken in
collaboration with the Leicestershire and Rutland Local Safeguarding Children
Board (LRLSCB)
The information is presented alongside the key priorities in our business plan
2015-16.

Paul Burnett
Independent Chair, Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Boards

2

93

Leicestershire & Rutland Local Safeguarding
Children Board and Safeguarding Adults Board
2014-15
Local Safeguarding
Children Board
(LSCB)

LLR Child Death
Overview Panel
(CDOP)
Joint with Leicester

Safeguarding Adults
Board (SAB)

Joint LSCB & SAB
Executive Group

LLR Adult Executive
Group and LLR
Children Executive
Group
Joint with Leicester

LLR LSCB CSE, Trafficking &
Missing Subgroup
Joint with Leicester

LLR LSCB Training Delivery
Subgroup

SAB Procedures and Development
Subgroup
Joint with Leicester

Communication and Engagement
Subgroup

Joint with Leicester

LLR LSCB Development and
Procedures Subgroup

Joint Safeguarding Effectiveness
Subgroup (SEG)

Joint with Leicester

LLR LSCB Voluntary &
Community Sector (VCS)
Reference Group

Conjoined Serious Case Review
(SCR) Subgroup

Joint with Leicester

3

94

Business Plan Priorities 2014/15
The Business Plan for the Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Adults Board
(LRSAB) was combined with that of the Leicestershire and Rutland Local
Safeguarding Children Board (LRLSCB) in 2014/15. We are reporting separately on
performance this year. The priorities set specifically in relation to the LRSAB were:

Priority 1: To be assured that ‘Safeguarding is Everyone's Responsibility’
Priority 2b: To be assured that adults in need of safeguarding are safe
Priority 2c: To be assured that services for children, services for adults and
services for families are effectively coordinated to ensure children and adults are
safe
Priority 3b: To be assured of the quality of care for any adult supported by
registered providers
Priority 4: To be assured that our Learning and Improvement Framework is raising
service quality and outcomes for children, young people and adults
Priority 5: To be assured that the workforce is fit for purpose

In addition a number of cross-cutting priorities were set, as follows:
•

Safeguarding services are coordinated

•

The voices of children and adults are heard

•

The voices of staff are heard

•

Sub-regional and regional coordination will be maximised

•

Effective communication must underpin all Board activity.

95

Priority 1:
To be assured that
‘Safeguarding is Everyone's Responsibility’
The LRSAB has met 4 times during 2014/15. The majority of Board members have
achieved the targeted 75% attendance rate with those agencies that now have a
statutory responsibility to attend – the local authorities, Leicestershire Police and the
two CCGs - achieving 100%.
There is a need to improve attendance rates from NHS England, the two arms of the
Probation Service and the voluntary, community and private sectors.
Partner agencies compliance with agreed safeguarding standards was tested using
the SAB Compliance Audit of Safeguarding Adults Assessment Form (SAAF).
Leicestershire County Council, Leicestershire Police, Leicestershire Partnership
Trust and NHS England assessed themselves as ‘Effective’. All other agencies
assessed themselves as ‘Working Towards Effectiveness’ and have put in place
action plans to secure full effectiveness.
All partner agencies attending the annual Safeguarding Summit thus enabling senior
leaders to contribute to the LRSAB needs analysis and priority setting and to reflect
resulting objectives in their own agencies strategic plans.
Rutland County Council was the subject of an Adult Social Care Peer Review in
February 2015. As well as establishing a clear message that safeguarding is
everyone’s business the Council was found to have strong political oversight,
support and challenge at the Safeguarding Adults Board and Scrutiny.
The new Quality Assurance and Performance Management framework became fully
operational during 2014/15. This aligns performance measures with the business
plan and tests impact in both quantitative and qualitative terms as well as against
service user and staff views and opinions. Contributions to the framework now
extend across all partners whereas in the past we relied almost wholly on information
from the two County Councils.
All relevant agencies made their financial contribution to the running of the LRSAB in
full providing the Board with a budget of £103,153. The budget was spent in full as
was a significant proportion of the reserve account that had been challenged in the
past.
Steps were taken to extend opportunities to secure the engagement and
participation of service users including work with Healthwatch. Projects funded
through the reserve account included pilots to develop improved engagement of
5

96

adults with learning disabilities. This is an area of work that still requires further
development however if we are to secure engagement and participation from across
the communities of Leicestershire and Rutland.
The Care Act
A key focus of LRSAB during 2014/15 was tracking of the progress of the Care Bill,
now the Care Act 2014, which featured the introduction of statutory status for
Safeguarding Adults Boards as well as significant change to adult safeguarding
arrangements.
The Board has:
• reviewed and revised its membership and terms of reference to secure Care
Act compliance;
• carried out a major revision of Adult Safeguarding Policies and Procedures to
secure Care Act compliance;
• introduced the Multi-Agency Policies and Procedures which include:
management of investigations in health care settings; individualised
approaches to safeguarding based on the ‘Making Safeguarding Personal’
programme;
• addressed frameworks for financial abuse, domestic violence and abuse, the
needs of carers, self-neglect, modern slavery and forced marriage.
Approaches to serious case reviews have also been reviewed in light of new
expectations in relation to Safeguarding Adult Reviews (SARs).
Priorities for 2015/16
Our priorities to ensure that ‘Safeguarding is Everyone’s Business’ next year are to:
•
•
•

•

•
•

•

Be assured that the Board and partner agencies are fully compliant with the
Care Act
Be assured that effective Board arrangements remain in place to provide
strategic leadership
Be assured that the Better Care Together programme incorporates, promotes,
measures and evaluates on safeguarding outcomes within its improvement
plans
Enable members of the public in Leicestershire and Rutland to be
aware/understand what constitutes a safeguarding concern/alert/referral with
a view to increasing appropriate reporting
Enable elected members in Leicestershire and Rutland to be
aware/understand what constitutes a safeguarding concern/alert/referral
Listen to and report what members of the public say about their experience of
safeguarding, and evidence how these views impact on Board priorities and
plans of action. The engagement activity of the Board will also be increased
All agencies are compliant with safeguarding standards and expectations as
monitored through the Safeguarding Adults Assurance Framework.
6

97

Priority 2b:
To be assured that adults in need of
safeguarding are safe
In Leicestershire:
• there was a 22% reduction in the number of safeguarding referrals following a
spike in referrals in the previous year. The referral rate is now more in line with
statistical neighbours;
• the majority (64%) of referrals continue to relate to adults in care homes;
• 70% of referrals relate to people over 65 and 42% relate to those over 85;
• The most common type of risk was neglect and omission – accounting for 43%
or all cases. 23% related to physical abuse and 13% to financial or material
abuse.
The Board commissioned the Ann Craft Trust to undertake a review of referral
patterns – triggered initially better to understand the significant increase in
referrals during 2013/14 but latterly to analyse this against the subsequent
reduction in referrals in 2014/15. Proposals are now being considered to address
the findings of the review which include: changes to the way we record data;
improving staff understanding of risk categories; improving engagement with
supported living and domiciliary care services; increasing safeguarding awareness
in the community and within ethnic minority groups; better managing responses to
intense media coverage of safeguarding issues.
In Rutland
• there was an increase in the number of safeguarding alerts and the increase
has been incremental across the year;
• 52% of referrals were from residential settings and there has been an increase
in the proportion that come from the community – possibly related to the
‘community agent’ initiative developed as part of the Better Care Together
programme in the County; this is an important shift in the profile of alerts;
• Older people continue to be the largest group to which safeguarding referrals
relate
• Neglect and acts of omission together with physical abuse were the most
prevalent types of abuse.
• There have been no safeguarding alerts relating to discriminatory or
institutional abuse.
• There is a concern that no safeguarding alerts were raised by the Police in
relation to work in Rutland

7

98

Mental Capacity Act (MCA) and Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS)
As in many other parts of the country Leicestershire and Rutland has experienced
an increase in the number of DoLS referrals following the supreme court
judgement in relation to a case in Cheshire West.
The LRSAB has continued to scrutinise performance particularly in relation to:
•

pressures on staff resources both in terms of volumes of activity but also
specifically in relation to best interest assessment;

•

staff awareness, confidence, competency and compliance in relation to MCA
and DoLS across the partnership particularly in the care sector;

•

service user experience.

A key opportunity to enhance our response to these and other issues presented
in the shape of the NHS MCA Improvement Programme through which we have
gained access to an additional investment of £471,110 across Leicestershire,
Rutland, Leicester and Lincolnshire. This programme was launched in the spring
of 2015 and impact will be reported in the next annual report.
Priorities for 2015/16
Our Business Plan 2015/16 priorities to secure assurance that adults in need of
safeguarding are safe are to:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•

Be assured that thresholds are understood and provide proportionate
assistance and risk management to adults in need of safeguarding
Implement the new Care Act compliant safeguarding procedures across
Leicestershire and Rutland and assure ourselves that they are effective
Ensure that the Self-Neglect element of the Care Act compliant procedures
are fit for purpose
Be assured that adults are safe in care, including residential establishments,
care homes, domiciliary care and nursing homes
Be assured that adults are safe in the community
Be assured that DoLS are effectively managed to ensure safety of adults
without capacity
Be assured that the increasing number of DoLS referrals can be managed
across Leicestershire and Rutland
Participate in the NHS England MCA/DoLS Programme to contribute to
improvements in the implementation of MCA and DoLS across Leicestershire,
Rutland, Leicester City and Lincolnshire
Be assured that recommendations from Winterbourne are fully embedded in
safeguarding practice.

8

99

Priority 2c:
To be assured that services for children, services
for adults and services for families are effectively
coordinated to ensure children and adults are safe
This priority was introduced to test the effectiveness of safeguarding across the
children and adult service arenas and to gauge the impact of the closer alignment
between the LRSAB and the LRLSCB.
The monitoring and scrutiny of transitions of young people from children to adult
services has revealed that none of these young people had child protection plans
and no complaints were received in relation to the Transitions Service. From a
safeguarding perspective therefore no concerns have been identified. The quality of
transition for the 152 cases that are open to the Transitions Service is of course for
other partnership bodies to assess.
Monitoring of adults that may pose a risk to children, young people and adults in
need of safeguarding (through MAPPA – the Multi-Agency Public Protection
Arrangements) has evidenced that the number of Level 2 and 3 offenders in
Leicestershire and Rutland is considerably lower than neighbouring areas largely
due to the adoption of the ‘Four Pillars’ process.
Similarly the number of cases referred through MARAC (Multi-Agency Risk
Assessment Conference) is lower than similar areas based on the Safe Lives
recommendations.
The LRSAB in collaboration with the LRLSCB has similarly carried out scrutiny and
challenge of Supporting Leicestershire Families and Changing Lives Rutland to
ensure that these programmes include safeguarding as a cross-cutting theme and
work to support a safer Leicestershire and Rutland. Both programmes have been
successful against their specific target outcomes which themselves contribute to
reducing safeguarding risk. In addition there has been good evidence to show
effective interfaces between the interventions from these programmes and core
safeguarding policies and practices.
Priorities for 2015/16
Priorities under this heading for 2015/16 relate to:
FGM
Prevent
Domestic Abuse
Think Family approaches including Supporting Leicestershire Families and Changing
Lives, Rutland

9

100

Priority 3b:
To be assured of the quality of care for any
adult supported by registered providers
The proportion of safeguarding referrals relating to registered provider settings in the
past had led the LRSAB to specifically monitor quality of care in these settings.
The Safeguarding Effectiveness Group – one of the subgroups of the LRSAB – has
been monitoring performance in registered settings with a view to providing the
Board with assurance that performance is improving and that actions taken to
support settings is effective.
During 2014/15 this process has been enhanced through closer working with CQC
including their attendance at two Board meetings per year.
A snapshot of information taken from ten care homes put together by the Quality
Improvement Team (QIT) demonstrates the positive impact the team has had on
reducing the number of substantiated incidents reported in care homes which have
received intervention from QIT.
In December 2014 the LRSAB delivered its ‘Improving Standards in Care
Conference. This was attended by 60 delegates from across Leicestershire and
Rutland and was positively evaluated by those that attended
Priorities for 2015/16
The priorities under this heading for 2015/16 are to:
•
•

Continue monitoring quality of care in residential and care home settings
Extend this scrutiny to include domiciliary care and supported living settings;

10

101

Priority 4:
To be assured that our Learning and
Improvement Framework is raising service
quality and outcomes for vulnerable adults
There were no Serious Case Reviews undertaken by the LRSAB in 2014/15.
The Board has however considered a range of national reports with a view to
ensuring provision in Leicestershire and Rutland is addressing key learning and
acting to drive up quality. This year the particular focus has been on Winterbourne
View and Mid-Staffordshire Hospital action plans. Regular reporting has taken place
that has assured LRSAB that local actions are meeting national requirements and
recommendations.
Two Domestic Homicide Reviews were undertaken and completed during 2014/15.
The action plans arising from these reviews have contained specific actions for both
individual agencies and multi-agency operations. Specific recommendations relating
to the LRSAB have all been completed. Some individual agency recommendations
were not fully completed by the end of the year and will be monitored carefully in the
current year.
In April 2014 the SCR subgroup held a development day to consider how we
conduct reviews and the methods by which we could provide focused, inclusive and
timely learning – this led directly to the development of a combined IMR/chronology
process and practitioner learning events that reflected the principles of root cause
analysis. Outcomes have also been fed into the Learning and Development
Framework so that future training and workforce development addresses these
issues.
Significant work has been done to ensure that key learning and recommendations
from reviews for practice are disseminated to front-line staff through the revised
LRSB website and through our regular newsletter ‘Safeguarding Matters’.
The new Adult Safeguarding Policies and Procedures including the Multi-Agency
Policy and Procedures also reflected learning and improvement that had been
secured through earlier reviews.
A key element of our Learning and Improvement Framework is the new quality
assurance and performance management framework that has sought to provide a
more holistic account of impact.

11

102

Priorities for 2015/16
The priorities under this heading for 2015/16 are to:
•
•
•

Review the Learning and Improvement Framework to ensure it is Working
Together and Care Act compliant
Seek assurance that appropriate settings are receiving and embedding
appropriate recommendations from SCRs and other review processes
Extend our capacity to provide comparative quality assurance and
performance data to test performance in Leicestershire and Rutland against
national and benchmark authority performance.

Priority 5:
To be assured that the workforce is fit for
purpose
Training and workforce development has continued to be a key priority for the
LRSAB to ensure that staff are able to deliver safeguarding expectations with
confidence and high levels of competence.
Key developments in 2014/15 included:
•

The introduction of a Safeguarding Competency Framework, to guide learning,
evidence practice and support managers, implemented from April 2014.

•

A Best Practice Guide to support the role of Training/Learning Commissioners
in commissioning development opportunities that meet the competencies and
best standards of delivery implemented

•

Evidence Log exemplars to support supervisors and managers

•

The development of a Quality Assurance Framework and template to enable
reporting into the Board (based on the Fitzpatrick Model and consistent with the
LSCB)

•

The development of a Joint Children and Adults Trainers Network.

Evaluations of training delivered have been positive.
Another test of effectiveness in this area is the rigour of recruitment processes in
securing safe recruitment. The Safeguarding Adults Assessment Framework
(SAAF) found that all agencies that regarded this as relevant assessed themselves
as compliant.
There are plans to increase the rigour and robustness of the SAAF in 2015/16.

12

103

Arrangements have been made to secure effective implementation of the need for
Designated Adult Safeguarding Managers across Leicestershire and Rutland during
2015/16.
Priorities for 2015/16
The priorities under this heading for 2015/16 are to:
•
•
•

Be assured that the adult safeguarding training Competency Framework
is understood and accessible to all practitioners
Seek assurance that supervision of workers and cases is good
Seek assurance that caseloads across the partnership are appropriate
and manageable.

13

104

Membership of the Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding
Adults Board 2014/15
Independent Chair
East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group
East Midlands Ambulance Service
EMCARE
Melton Borough Council (representing the borough and district councils)
Leicestershire County Council
Leicestershire Police
Leicestershire Partnership Trust (LPT)
Leicestershire Probation Trust
NHS England (Area Team)
Rutland County Council
University Hospital Leicester
Vista Blind
West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group
Observer status
Leicestershire County Council Lead Member
Rutland County Council Lead Member
Professional Advisers to the Board:
Boards’ Business Office Manager
Legal Advisor for the Safeguarding Boards
Heads of Children’s safeguarding in the two Local Authorities

14

105

Agenda Item 11

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 17 SEPTEMBER 2015
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES
ANNUAL REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT REVIEWING OFFICER (IRO)
SERVICE 2014-15
Purpose of report
1.

To inform the Board of the 2014-15 annual report of the Independent Reviewing
Officer Service.

Link to Better Care Together
Workstream
Maternity, neonates,
children and young people

Relevance Workstream
Mental health
X

Long term conditions

Frail and older people

Urgent care

Planned care

Learning disabilities

End of life

Relevance

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
2. This is the first time the Independent Reviewing Officer Report has been submitted to the
Health and Wellbeing Board – it is proposed that this will now be the approach taken on
an annual basis. It is a statutory requirement for the Local Authority to produce an annual
report of the Independent Reviewing Officer (The IRO Handbook - Statutory guidance for
independent reviewing officers and local authorities on their functions in relation to case
management and review of looked after children March 2010). The content and format is
prescribed in the guidance with the expectation that it will be available for scrutiny by the
Corporate Parenting Board, as well as accessible as a public document.
Background
3. The IRO Service in Leicestershire is sited within the Safeguarding and Improvement Unit
(SIU), part of Children's Social Care (CSC), which sits within the Children and Family
Services (CFS). Whilst part of CSC, it remains independent of the line management of
resources for children in care and the operational social work teams; the regulations are
clear that IROs must be independent from the immediate line management of the child’s
case as this is significant in terms of their challenge and scrutiny role.

106
The appointment of an IRO is a legal requirement under S118 of the Adoption and
Children Act 2002, their role being to protect children in care’s interests throughout the
care planning process, ensure their voice is heard and challenge the local authority
where needed in order to achieve best outcomes.
The report outlines the contribution made by the IRO Service in Leicestershire, to the
quality assurance and improvement of services for children and young people in the care
of the County Council during the year April 2014 to March 2015. It evaluates how
effectively the service and the Local Authority have fulfilled their responsibilities to
Leicestershire’s children in care over this period, including performance in relation to the
Local Authority's corporate parenting function in seeking to achieve best outcomes.
The report is an opportunity to pinpoint areas of good practice and those in need of
development and improvement, providing information that can contribute to the strategic
plans of the local authority. It highlights emerging themes and trends, and details areas
of work which the service has prioritised during the year, including progress on the areas
of development that were identified from the 2014-15 IRO Service Annual Work
Programme, as set out in Appendix 1.
Consultation/Patient and Public Involvement
4.

Consultation with and participation of children in care is central to the work of the
IROs and is reflected in the annual report.

Resource Implications
5.

None of note at this stage.

Conclusions/Recommendations
6.

The Board are requested to note the content of the Annual Report and ratify the
improvements and developments planned for 2015-16 as set out in the Work Plan.
The main priorities considered relevant for the Board:
• Over 2015-16, the IRO Service will continue to work with locality social work teams
and the specialist nursing team for children in care in order to improve the
timeliness of children and young people receiving Initial Health Assessments and
ensure that they remain of good quality.
• The IRO Service will continue to consider and challenge where required, as
regards the suitability of CAMHS provision for children and young people in care.
The IRO Service will use forums available to bring matters of concern to the
attention of the Local Authority.

Officer to Contact
Judith Jones
Acting Service Manager
Safeguarding and Improvement Unit
Telephone: 0116 3057411
Email: judith.jones@leics.gov.uk

107

List of Appendices
Appendix A - Independent Reviewing Officer Annual Report 2014-15
Relevant Impact Assessments
Equality and Human Rights Implications
7.

These are addressed throughout the report as the aim is to improve standards and
outcomes for all children and young people in care and those with safeguarding
needs, including disabled children, young children and those from minority and
harder to reach groups.

Partnership Working and associated issues
8.

This is key as regards the role of the IRO for the benefit of children in care and is
therefore addressed throughout the report.

Risk Assessment
9.

There are some national and local political implications given the work of the
Independent Reviewing Officer Service is subject to the scrutiny of Ofsted
inspections.

108

This page is intentionally left blank

109

APPENDIX A
LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
CHILDREN & FAMILY SERVICES
Safeguarding & Improvement Unit
Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) Children in Care Annual Report
2014-15

Contents

1

Executive Summary

2

Introduction

3

Purpose of IRO Service and Context

4

IRO service

5

Quantitative Information

6

Qualitative Information (See Appendix 1)

7

Conduct of the organisation

8

Recommended areas for improvement by the Operational
Service 2014-15

9

Annual Work Programme 2015-16 (See Appendix 2)
Appendix 1 IRO Service 2014-15 Annual Work Programme
Performance and Outcomes
Appendix 2 IRO Service 2015 – 16 Annual Work Programme
Appendix 3 IRO Handbook Implementation Plan update
Appendix 4 Tables of figures

110

Executive Summary
1.1

The IRO (Independent Reviewing Officer) has a statutory role to
ensure effective and improved care planning for children and young
people, securing better outcomes, with their wishes and feelings being
central and given full and due consideration. (IRO Handbook March
2010).

1.2

IROs independently oversee care planning for children and have
opportunity to challenge poor decisions and better protect a child's
interests.

1.3

This report evaluates the extent to which Leicestershire County Council
has fulfilled its responsibilities to the children in its care for the period
1st April 2014 – 31st March 2015; including its corporate parenting
function.

1.4

There are strengths, challenges and areas for improvement as set out
below. The report includes priorities for 2015-16 in its appendices.

1.5

For the purpose of this report, the term LAC (Looked After Child) will be
used for statutory related references to children looked after by the
local authority e.g. LAC Reviews and all other references will refer to
children in care.

1.6

Overall, the IRO Service in Leicestershire is really pleased with what it
has achieved over the last year and is confident that is has operated to
a high standard and met statutory requirements. The vision moving
forward is one of excellence and the improvements identified in this
report will help build on what has been achieved and is working well to
enhance the service even further.

1.7

Strengths – What is working well?
•

•

•
•

•

99.1% of the 1292 Reviews were carried out within the prescribed
timescale a further improvement on the previous two years already
good performance. (98.8% and 98% respectively).
Increased numbers of children participating in their Reviews again
this year, from 91% in 2013-14 to 92.5% 2014-15 (was 88.5% in
2012-13)
Improvements in IRO contact with and visits to children and
recording of this including children placed at a distance.
Wealth of experience, expertise and knowledge across the IRO
Service with ability to offer consultation in a number of lead areas
including Children Using Sexually Abusive Behaviour, Mental
Health, Youth Offending/Remand/Secure Accommodation.
All IROs have been trained in Signs of Safety and have
championed this approach in their dual role.

111

•
•

•

•

•

1.8

IRO Service Regional and National links and training and
development opportunities.
IRO Service links with Cafcass and representation on Family
Justice Board and Performance sub-group and opportunity for
influence in care proceedings.
Strengthened working relationships and effective, collaborative
working and peer challenge between IRO Service and Service
Managers in Children’s Social Care.
IRO Challenge activity including challenge meetings between the
IRO Service managers and Assistant Director. IROs have a clear
and direct route to the Director in those situations where resolution
with the Assistant Director is not achieved.
IRO Service attendance and involvement at Joint Solutions and
Permanency Forum, Education of Children in Care meetings and
with the Specialist LAC health team and Early Years partners.

Challenges – What are we worried about?
•

How current capacity within the IRO Service impacts on IROs being
able to consistently comply with the regulatory requirements of the
IRO handbook:
There has been some deterioration since the last reporting period,
of IROs being able to consistently complete and distribute decisions
and records from LAC reviews within timescales.
IROs aspire to increase further the practice of ensuring that they
speak with/visit children privately and individually prior to each
review especially those placed at a distance.

•
•

1.9

The need to further promote IRO voice/presence in court
proceedings
More consistently meeting good standards of practice around
processes for children coming into care and their first Review to
build on the achievements made in this respect over 2014-15.

Areas for Improvement – What needs to happen?
•

•

Development of an evaluation tool to gain feedback about the
quality and experience for young people of their Review and the
IRO Service.
Further work between locality social work services and the IRO
Service, to build on the good progress that has been made over
2014-15, to more fully achieve consistent standards of practice
around quality and timeliness of preparation for Review, including
timeliness of notifications to the IRO Service of children coming into
care.

112

•
•

•

Improved placement sufficiency and suitability to support more
stability and permanency options for children and young people.
New care planning documentation that compliments the
developments being made in placement commissioning and is
congruent with a Signs of Safety approach.
Further strengthening of the IRO escalation process so the
independent voice of the IRO continues to challenge and evidence
impact on improved outcomes for children and young people in
care.

113

2.0

Introduction

2.1

This Annual Report is a requirement of ‘The IRO Handbook - Statutory
guidance for independent reviewing officers and local authorities on
their functions in relation to case management and review of looked
after children' (March 2010). The content and format follows the
prescription set out in the guidance; the report will comply with the
expectation that it will be available for scrutiny by the Corporate
Parenting Board, as well as accessible as a public document and most
importantly, communicated to Leicestershire’s children in care in a child
and young person friendly version.

2.2

The report outlines the contribution made by the IRO Service in
Leicestershire, to the quality assurance and improvement of services
for children and young people in the care of the County Council during
the year April 2014 to March 2015. It evaluates how effectively the
service and the Local Authority have fulfilled their responsibilities to
Leicestershire’s children in care over this period, including performance
in relation to the Local Authority's corporate parenting function in
seeking to achieve best outcomes.

2.3

The report is an opportunity to pinpoint areas of good practice and
those in need of development and improvement, providing information
that can contribute to the strategic plans of the local authority. It
highlights emerging themes and trends, and details areas of work
which the service has prioritised during the year, including progress on
the areas of development that were identified from the 2014-15 IRO
Service Annual Work Programme, as set out in Appendix 1.

2.4

Priorities for the current year 2015-16 are set out in Appendix 2.

3.0

Purpose of IRO Service and Context

3.1

The appointment of an IRO is a legal requirement under S118 of the
Adoption and Children Act 2002, their role being to protect children’s
interests throughout the care planning process, ensure their voice is
heard and challenge the local authority where needed in order to
achieve best outcomes.

3.2

The effectiveness of the role has rightly been subject to scrutiny since
its inception and the legal framework and statutory guidance was
revised in 2010 to support a strengthened position. This is set out in
the Care Planning, Placement and Case Review (England) Regulations
2010 (amended 2015) and the IRO Handbook 2010.

3.3

The role of the Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) is essential to the
quality assurance and effectiveness of the looked after experience of
children and young people, not just on an individual basis but
collectively too, with IROs having a key part to play in monitoring the

114

performance of the Local Authority as a Corporate Parent; drawing out
themes for improvement and development and helping to drive forward
change.
3.4

The regulations clearly specify circumstances when the local authority
should consult with the IRO; when there are proposed significant
changes to the care plan including changes of placement, change of
education plan or serious incident. IROs are a key part of decision
making processes for children and young people’s care and
permanence planning.

3.5

Should IROs have concerns about the conduct of the local authority in
relation to its provision for a child in care, they have the power to refer
cases to the Children and Family Court Advisory and Support Service
(section 26 of the 1989 Children Act as amended by the 2002 Act) who
could consider bringing proceedings for breaches of the child’s human
rights, judicial review and other proceedings.

3.6

To support IROs in their challenge role, the statutory framework
recognises the need for access to independent legal advice and
supports that this should be in place.

3.7

Expectations of the quality and effectiveness of the IRO Service have
continued to increase over the period covered by this report, evident
within the findings of national research - The role of Independent
Reviewing Officers (IROs) in England (NCB March 2014) as well as
Ofsted inspections of other local authorities.

4.0

IRO Service

4.1

Although IROs are appointed by the local authority, the regulations are
very clear that they must be independent from the immediate line
management of the case – this is significant in terms of the challenge
and scrutiny role.

4.2

The IRO Service in Leicestershire is sited within the Safeguarding &
Improvement Unit (SIU), part of Children's Social Care (CSC), which
sits within the Children and Family Services (CFS). Whilst part of CSC,
it remains independent of the line management of resources for
children in care and the operational social work teams.

4.3

There is a continuing national debate regarding how truly effective
IROs can be when they are employed directly by the local authority and
recommendations have been made to look to employ IROs outside the
local authority (House of Lords Committee on Adoption Reform - 2013).
This has not to date been agreed by the Government and
commitments continue in order to make the role work within the current
arrangements – recognising that the true test of independence is IROs
ability to challenge and operate in an environment that allows for this.

115

4.4

In this context, the effective independence of the IRO Service in
Leicestershire continues to be monitored and considered across the
IRO management team and the position remains that overall,
independence is not felt to be compromised, supported by evidence of
challenge and support for this at senior levels within the authority.

4.5

The siting of IROs within CSC is one that is viewed by the service as
beneficial overall as it enables IROs: to have a good understanding of
the local authority and the context in which they operate; to have direct
access to case records and therefore full information relating to a
child’s case; to build constructive working relationships with social work
teams which aids good information sharing and partnerships and to
have oversight of the strengths and needs of the department that in
turn enables contributions to improvement activity for the benefit of
children in care.

4.6

The structure of the SIU has seen a number of changes since its
inception in 1997 with the last major restructure taking place over
2011-12 which facilitated a strengthened and enhanced IRO and
management function, (referenced in the 2012-13 annual report)
including increased capacity, in recognition of the need for the IRO
Service to respond to a number of national and local drivers.

4.7

Since then, the SIU has become increasingly involved in managing and
coordinating responses to a number of high profile complex abuse
investigations, including contributing to strategic and operational
developments to improve the local response to child sexual
exploitation, trafficking and missing children.

4.8

A new and separate resource has been established to support this
work – Multi Agency Child Sexual Exploitation and Missing Team – a
departmental priority over the last year. The skills, knowledge and
experience of staff within the IRO Service enabled this project to take
place with staff from the service being seconded into new specialist
roles. This has meant further changes for the IRO service and
configuration of the IRO management team which has brought a new
set of challenges as regards capacity. Arrangements have been put
into place at the beginning of 2015-16, to enable this to be resolved
permanently.

4.9

The IRO Service has two Team Managers with lead responsibilities for
children in care and child protection respectively who manage the team
of IROs; the SIU Service Manager has lead responsibility for the IRO
Service.

4.10

The IRO Service has a diverse mix of staff to reflect the make-up of the
children in care population, across age, sexual orientation as well as
ethnicity. The gender balance is heavily female weighted which is less
representative and whereas opportunities to redress this have

116

continued to be taken where possible through recruitment, the most
significant consideration is having the right skills and experience.
4.11

Collectively, the IRO team has many years of social work and
management experience, professional expertise and knowledge and
there are a number who have developed more specialist roles during
the course of their time in the service and are able to offer consultation
in areas including but not confined to:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

CUSAB (Children Using Sexually Abusive Behaviour)
Therapeutic support services
Children with disabilities and complex care needs
Youth Offending/Remand/Secure Accommodation
Mental Health
UASC (Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children)
PREVENT

All IROs have had generic as well as more bespoke training in Signs of
Safety, relevant to their role – this has included in depth residential
training opportunities for some with the chance for more to take
advantage of this into the later part of 2015.
4.12

In addition, there are links with the Children in Care Council (CiCC) and
Participation Officer for Children in Care and Care Leavers as well as
the Corporate Parenting Board.

4.13

Two IROs have worked closely with the CiCC over the reporting period
to produce new and improved consultation documents with the aim of
supporting more effective participation of children and young people in
their Care Planning and Reviews - crucial in relation to their voice
being listened to, heard and influential.

4.14

Continuing challenges with capacity in the IRO service has meant a
need to guard carefully against IROs undertaking too many additional
duties and extended responsibilities that are not specified in the
statutory guidance for the role, yet create a balance that allows for an
enhanced skill set that can contribute to quality and improvement
developments.

4.15

As is the established case in Leicestershire, there are IRO Services in
other local authorities that have a dual role and undertake their
statutory functions as outlined in the IRO Handbook, as well as the
chairing of all Child Protection Conferences (CPCs) convened in the
authority. However, there are a number of authorities that have chosen
to separate out these functions as they have interpreted the chairing of
child protection conferences as additional duties that could detract from
the priority given to children in care.

117

4.16

The approach taken in Leicestershire is mostly but not universally seen
as a benefit in relation to the continuity it provides to children and
young people on their journey through the child protection process and
into the care system (The role of Independent Reviewing Officers
(IROs) in England - NCB March 2014). Such an approach allows
flexibility within the team and provides more effective oversight across
children’s’ situations and the service provided from the IRO team to
Child Protection as well as Children in Care has continued to be given
equal priority and status.

4.17

At a regional IRO seminar held in March 2014 the Ofsted
representative advised that Ofsted do not favour any particular model
or configuration of IRO Services; the focus of their judgment remains
on its quality and effectiveness.

4.18

To date, there have been no plans to change the configuration of the
IRO Service in Leicestershire but specialist Signs of Safety
developments in the child protection conference processes over 201415, alongside the growing demands on IROs to make a difference for
outcomes for children in care has required this to be considered again.
Consideration of the best way to deliver these functions and use
resources to best affect needs to take place over 2015-16.

4.19

The make-up of the IRO team has seen some changes over the
reporting period. Whilst retaining a core, more established
membership, it has welcomed some new permanent staff but been
impacted by staff secondments and extended periods of sick leave by
several staff, with Q3 (October – December 2014) the hardest hit.
Additional agency IROs have been a necessity in order to be able to
continue to deliver the core business which has been a significant
challenge at various periods especially the latter half of 2014-15.

4.21

At the time of writing, the IRO service is operating with 11.15 FTE IROs
(+ 0.5 FTE recent vacancy). This includes 4 agency IROs, 3 of whom
have minimal involvement with children in care work and focus mainly
on the child protection conference chairing role. Careful consideration
is given to the type of work allocated to temporary staff within the team
in order to continue to support sufficient priority being given to
consistent professional relationships with children, young people, their
families and carers.

4.22

Caseloads for IROs (FTE) with the current staff complement averages
approximately 80 which is a better position than the 2013-14 period but
still over the recommended guidelines as per the IRO Handbook (5070)

4.23

The issue of sufficiency within the IRO Service (a regional and national
test, not just experienced in Leicestershire) has been formally
considered and acknowledged by DMT over the period this report

118

covers and at the time of writing, discussions around ensuring capacity,
continue to take place with senior leaders.
4.24

The expectations on IROs are significant and the IRO Service in
Leicestershire remains committed to delivering a high quality service
for children in care. In order for them to continue to encompass their
full responsibilities and contribute to improved outcomes on an
individual as well as collective basis, the resources to deliver need to
be in place.

5.0

Quantitative Information

5.1

The children in care population in Leicestershire has seen further
growth over the 2014-15 period in comparison to the previous two
years, which has meant further demand on the IRO Service as well as
locality social work teams and Placements Service; the overall number
increased by 18 from year end 2014 to 474 at the year end March 31st
2015. See Table 1 in Appendix 4

5.2

Between 1st April 2014 and 31st March 2015, a total of 1292 review
meetings for children were held. The figures in the table do not show
the adoption reviews for previous years (adoption work has only been
inputted into Fwi in the latter part of 2014-15 so is now able to be
included in electronic reports run) but they were included in the annual
reporting last year and made the total 1283 which is just less than this
year. See Table 2 in Appendix 4

5.3

On time LAC Reviews support focused and timely care planning for
children, help secure permanency - avoiding unnecessary delay and
assist in the completion of actions aimed at delivering best outcomes.
Of the LAC Reviews held over 2014-15, 1281 (99.1%) were held within
the prescribed timescales. This is an excellent achievement and
represents further improvement on the good performance in the
previous two periods of 98.8% and 98%.

5.4

The performance in relation to timely LAC Reviews is down to clarity of
expectation and a robust system that supports this within the SIU,
across IROs, managers and administrative support. A continued
flexible approach, treating the review as a process rather than a
meeting is another way that the IRO Service works with locality teams
to ensure reviews take place within timescale.

5.5

Of the 1292 reviews undertaken over 2014-15, 83 (6%) were done in
more than 1 part compared to 3% in 2013-14. It is recognised that the
review process has to be flexible and take account of the individual
needs of the child/young person concerned. This flexibility is helpful
both in terms of meeting timescales as well as attendance and
participation of young people and their family, carers and professionals.
Some reviews will appropriately be held as one stand-alone meeting,
others, to suit the circumstances, may be better suited to a number of

119

meetings. The IRO considers the best approach in consultation with
social workers and children and young people.
5.6

Notwithstanding the benefits a flexible approach to reviews can bring,
there is a need to ensure it continues to be used for the right reasons
moving forward and not as a fallback due to lack of adherence to
timescales – robust application of the timescales for reviews will
continue to be adopted in the SIU.

5.7

Of the 11 LAC reviews that did not take place on time over 2014-15
(0.9%) the main reasons relate to communication issues between
locality social work teams and IRO Service (both ways on some
occasions) as well as attendance issues on one occasion and also lack
of notification to SIU that child has come into care coupled with lack of
data entered onto Frameworki (Fwi) so this was not picked up until out
of date (28 day – 1st LAC Review). On the whole this is an improved
picture compared to 2013-14 reasons and offers some reassurance
that actions taken to address repeat issues from previous reporting
periods have seen some success.

5.8

Participation

5.8.1 Children’s voice should be at the centre of their care planning and
engaging their participation in their Looked After Review process is
crucial in ensuring the influence this has when making plans for their
future.
5.8.2 The participation figures for this period represents the percentage of
children and young people aged 4 and over who communicated their
views in some way, for their review. See Table 3 in Appendix 4
Participation is defined across 7 different indicators:
PN1
PN2
PN3
PN4
PN5
PN6
PN7
PN0

Children who attend their reviews and speak for themselves;
Those who attend but communicate via an advocate;
Those who attend and convey their views non verbally;
Those who attend but don't contribute;
Children who do not attend but brief someone to speak on their
behalf;
Do not attend but communicate their views by another method;
Those who do not attend/convey their views in any other way.
Represents children under the age of 4

5.8.3 The participation figures for 2014-2015 have seen a further increase to
92.5% from 91% in 2013-14 and 88.5% the year previous which is
positive progress in relation to the focus that this has been given in the
IRO service.
5.8.4 As per the recommendation arising out of last year’s annual report a
system has been put into place that includes monthly reporting and

120

monitoring by IRO managers and admin support – this has contributed
to improvement but it is recognised that there is still room for better
performance and it is anticipated that use of newly developed
consultation and participation documentation designed in conjunction
with children and young people will further assist into 2015-16.
5.8.5 IROs continue to strive to build meaningful relationships with children
and young people, recognising that these relationships are at the heart
of good practice and achieving best outcomes. IROs have worked hard
over 2014-15 to meet the requirement for them to speak with/visit
children privately and individually prior to each review – sometimes this
is able to take place well in advance but other times this will be just
prior to the review and it is recognised that for children placed at a
distance this is more of a challenge.
5.8.6 This challenge was highlighted in November 2014, when the IRO
Service had the benefit of being part of an external consultation
exercise and one of the recommendations for improvement to come
out of this was in relation to contact with and visits to children placed at
a distance. The Service has endeavored to make progress in this area
and whereas it remains a challenge there are some very good practice
examples of IROs travelling some distances to engage children and
young people and seek their views around their care plans; views that
have certainly influenced the way meetings have been planned and
conducted as well as impact on care planning.
5.8.7 A monthly reporting system has been set up with Placements Service
whereby IRO managers are given updates as to which children are
placed at a distance so there is better oversight and opportunity to
ensure that IROs are engaged with these children – this work is
undertaken in conjunction with the Children’s Rights Officer for
Children in Care.
5.8.8 IROs have the facility to record their contact with and visits to children
and young people on Fwi and it has been possible over this reporting
period to access reports in the system that help to reflect this activity. It
is a very simple portrayal that in the first instance has allowed for a
basic idea of what progress is being made by the IRO Service in this
area of responsibility but needs refining further and taking in context
with other performance data in order to be more useful moving forward.
Case note type - IRO Visit to Child recorded
Q1 2013/14 - 7 visits
Q2 2013/14 - 11 visits
Q3 2013/14 – 16 visits
Q4 2013/14 – 7 visits

Q1 2014/15 - 35 visits
Q2 2014/15 - 36 visits
Q3 2014/15 – 16 visits
Q4 2014/15 – 22 visits

Total 2013/14 = 41

Total 2014/15 = 109

121

Case note type - IRO Contact with Child recorded
Q1 2013/14 - 15 contacts
Q2 2013/14 - 25 contacts
Q3 2013/14 – 17 contacts
Q4 2013/14 – 10 contacts

Q1 2014/15 - 19 contacts
Q2 2014/15 - 23 contacts
Q3 2014/15 – 32 contacts
Q4 2014/15 – 65 contacts

Total 2013/14 = 67

Total 2014/15 = 139

5.8.9 Despite there being noted improvements in the recording of IRO visits
and contact to date, there are still a number of null returns for this data
field which highlights the need for more consistent recording as well as
increased activity. However, whereas over 80% of records did not
detail this information back in May 2014, the most recent data set in
February 2015 has by comparison a 33.9% null return – an
improvement of almost 46%. The challenge over 2015/16 will be to
reduce this further.
5.8.10 One of the areas of work identified in the 2014-15 Work Plan was to
develop an evaluation tool to gain feedback about the quality and
experience for young people of their Review and the IRO Service; to
better understand the impact of young people’s participation and their
voice and the difference it makes for their outcomes. This action was
part of a wider piece of work to improve the range of consultation tools
available for children and young people and whereas some of this has
been achieved (See Appendix 1) there are still elements that have
been delayed that are being taken forward into 2015-16.

6.0

Qualitative Information

6.1

The 2013-14 IRO Annual Report, identified priority areas for
improvement and action by the IRO Service for 2014-15 in the Annual
Work Programme. Appendix 1 illustrates performance against that.

7.0

Conduct of the organisation in relation to the review and the case,
including any resource issues that are putting at risk the delivery
of a quality service for Children in Care.

7.1

Over the reporting period, the Acting Service Manager for the IRO
Service has worked closely and collaboratively with peer Service
Managers for locality social work teams and Placement Service in
order to ensure the most effective working relationships in recognition
of how this is at the centre of achieving the best outcomes for our
children in care. Peer challenge has been positively embraced and this
approach has been greatly beneficial in addressing a number of areas
of practice needing improvement that there had been limited progress
with previously.

122

7.2

Timeliness of notifications to the IRO Service of children coming into
care to support strong practices and performance around care planning
and LAC Review processes has been a continuing challenge, although
this is definitely moving in the right direction and has seen gradually
improving performance over the Quarters in 2014-15 with 59% of
notifications within required timescales in Q4 compared to Q1, Q2 and
Q3 which was 47%, 50% & 48% respectively. There is still progress to
be made and this will be taken forward into 2015-16.

7.3

The statutory Review meeting is the forum where care and
permanency planning for children is carefully considered and overseen
by the IRO and in order for this to be most effective, evidence of the
assessment and thinking on which the plan is formulated, along with
the plan itself, needs to be made available in advance to the IRO along
with all relevant reports.

7.4

Performance in this respect has featured as a recommended area for
improvement by the operational service in the last 2 annual reports.
Tables 4 and 4a in Appendix 4 show the comparison between
2013/14 and 2014/15 and it can be seen that progress has been made
but still needs improvement.

7.5

In July 2014, as part of the Entitlements Inquiry for children in care and
care leavers, the Participation Officer for children in care undertook a
survey with a group of 43 children that sought a view from them as to
whether they were aware of the existence of their care plan, whether it
included their views and whether they felt important decisions were
taken without their involvement. Additionally they were asked if they got
opportunity to speak with their social worker alone. The results were
very positive and support that there is some very good practice in place
across CSC. The majority of children said that they were aware of their
care plan and that it included their views; the majority felt that they
were included in decision making about them and all but one young
person advised that they got to see their social worker alone.

7.6

There are plans in place to change the current care plan tool and
approach for children and young people, to make it more fit for purpose
as regards; commissioning services that meet children’s assessed
individual needs and bringing more accountability as to how these will
be met in the short, medium and long term. This work needs to be
aligned with developments that have already taken place with other
LAC Review documentation to incorporate Signs of Safety
methodology and support a move towards LAC reviews being
managed in that way.

7.7

There has been a collaborative focus over 2014-15 across the IRO
Service, Nominated Officer for the Local Authority and Agency
Decision Maker (ADM) to improve understanding across locality social
work teams of the quality assurance responsibilities these roles have

123

for children in care and how this fits with achieving permanency for
children avoiding unnecessary delay. This work has further helped to
raise the profile of the IRO and the importance of good working
relationships and communication with social workers for children in
care and their plans. There are still some instances of IROs not being
notified of significant changes or event in a child's life including
changes to their care plan but there are in contrast numerous
examples of good practice whereby IROs have worked very closely
and consistently with practitioners to address issues and achieve good
outcomes for children and young people. The role of the IRO is much
better understood than previously and more integrated into the thinking
of workers and managers at all levels.
7.8

Over 2014-15 there has been a focus on achieving permanency and
ensuring robust and timely processes for children and young people
are followed. This has required both locality social work teams and
IROs to take stock of their practice and make the necessary changes
to support this. The joint action plan for care and permanency planning
has underpinned this work and some of the aspects of this action plan
that have been delivered over this period have contributed to positive
improvements.

7.9

Work has been undertaken through the Joint Solutions and
Permanency Forum to know exactly who our children in care are and
out of the cohort at any one time to understand and verify which
children have achieved permanency; those who have nearly achieved
it; those who do/do not have an identified permanence plan and those
who are in their transition to independent living. It is really positive that
the first permanency celebrations have taken place in this period for
children and their carers whose long term fostering placements have
been matched where required and ratified through their review
process. This approach continues into 2015-16.

7.10

The role of the IRO Service in the Joint Solutions and Permanency
Forum has continued to contribute to influencing best outcomes for
children at an individual case level as well as in relation to service
planning and developments for children in care.

7.11

IROs have continued to endeavour to exercise their challenge and
influence role to the fullest over the last year and despite the demands
on the service that have been highlighted already in the report, they
have been active in this part of their role on a formal basis as well as
informal. The data taken from IRO recording on Fwi demonstrates a
comparison for 2014/15 to that captured in 2013/14. Currently this is
the case note type that is used by IROs to capture a challenge – it is
acknowledged that this needs to be revised and a clear case note type
for IRO Challenge will be of more benefit.

124

Case note type - IRO View recorded
Q1 2013/14 - 12 records
Q2 2013/14 - 16 records
Q3 2013/14 – 28 records
Q4 2013/14 – 19 records

Q1 2014/15 - 34 records
Q2 2014/15 - 65 records
Q3 2014/15 – 59 records
Q4 2014/15 – 58 records

Total = 75

Total = 216

The caveat for this information is that it is not the sole means of
capturing data around challenge but gives an indication of the
progression in the Service.
7.12

There have been eight challenge meetings between
and Assistant Director over 2014-15 and a total of
young people discussed. Some issues have been
whilst others have been more complex and have
progress to a satisfactory conclusion.

7.13

Overall, the issues of concern requiring challenge over this period have
included:
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

the IRO Service
22 children and
resolved swiftly
taken longer to

Unnecessary delays in numerous aspects of care and
permanency planning and progression including delay in
commencing care proceedings.
Disagreements around proposed care and permanency plans
Disagreements around type of placement and concerns about
suitability of placements.
Change of plans without IRO involvement
Lack of response to IRO challenge
Delays incurred as a result of agreements around financial
packages
Staying Put challenges
Pre-proceedings not sufficiently robust
Lack of robust rehabilitation planning
Lack of permanency/forward/transition plan.

Placement choice and sufficiency has also been a concern; this is a
recognised issue within CSC and one that has been responded to
during the transformations that have taken place over the year. It is
hoped that the changes that have taken place in the Placements and
Commissioning Service will address this moving forward.
7.14

As in previous reporting periods, none of the challenge cases
considered this year have culminated in formal referral to Cafcass in
relation to Judicial Review, as challenges have been ultimately
resolved or on track to be at the time of writing. Reflection on these has
led to the identification of areas where IROs need to be more

125

consistently robust and less lenient in their approach. It is a balance to
strike and the IRO Service will give careful consideration to this moving
forward, given the potential benefits to using this approach in complex
and stuck situations in order to secure a resolution for children and
young people at the earliest opportunity.
7.15

Even though formal Cafcass referrals have not been necessary, there
is a continuing, mostly positive working relationship between the IRO
Service and Cafcass, under the umbrella of the Cafcass Protocol and
this is aided by good links being established between IRO and Cafcass
managers over the last year. There are plans in place to further
enhance this over the coming year and review the effectiveness of the
protocol, with networking opportunities being set up between IROs and
Children’s Guardians – the first one is scheduled for July 2015.

7.16

IROs have effective access to Independent Legal Advice and have
used this to support their challenges for 5 children and young people
over 2014-15 compared to 1 over 2013-14.

7.17

One of the themes to come out of the challenge work of IROs is their
lack of direct voice in court/care proceedings as they are not party to
proceedings and largely reliant on their views being represented
(unless requested directly by the court) via the children’s guardian
and/or the local authority – this does not work effectively enough when
there is a difference of view/dispute around the care plan. This issue
has been raised with HHJ Bellamy who has acknowledged the
dilemma and agreed to meet with the IRO Service Manager to discuss
local arrangements including presentation at Family Justice Board for
Judges and Magistrates on the role of the IRO.

7.18

Despite many occasions over 2014-15 where IROs have taken up
successful challenges on behalf of children and young people in care,
there needs to be an acknowledgement that there have also been
missed opportunities whereby IROs have not been sufficiently robust
and this has meant resolutions for children and young people taking
longer on some occasions with the risk of unnecessary delay. This
needs to reduce over 2015-16 and it is hoped that with sufficient
resources IROs will be in a better position to pick up all required
challenges. Strong management oversight and quality assurance
activity will assist.

7.19

The IRO Service needs to do some further work over 2015-16,
reviewing the escalation process and making it more fit for purpose.
Some issues arose over 2014-15 that identified a need for a clearer
more robust approach and one that was less generic. Alongside this
there is a need to review the current arrangements for how challenge
work is captured and evidenced, with clear demonstration around
impact and outcomes.

126

7.20

The IRO Service has continued to benefit from strong links with
partners in health and education for the benefit of children in care and
arrangements remain in place for regular attendance of key
representatives from these services at IRO team meetings. IRO
Service representation at both education and health strategic groups
continues.

7.21

The IRO Service has worked closely with LAC Nurses and the
Designated Nurse for Looked After Children in relation to improving
performance and take up of timely Initial and Review Health
Assessments as well as commencing use of Leaving Care Health
Summaries in 2015-16.

7.22 Links with Early Years services have continued to be good and the IRO
Service has worked with them over this period to promote opportunities
for pre-school children in care to receive support and experience of
nursery provision and Early Years PEPs, to give them the best
chances with their peers when they start school.
7.23

Regional and National IRO Service and IRO Manager relationships
have developed positively over the last 6 months of the reporting
period and the IRO Service in Leicestershire has taken full advantage
of regional, tailored training and networking opportunities. This has
been invaluable as regards furthering knowledge to support the role as
well as sharing good practice across regional and national peers and
keeping abreast of developments and government thinking around the
role of the IRO and how this can be used to best effect.

8.0

Recommended areas for improvement by the operational service
•

•

•

•
•

Improved timeliness to IRO Service from locality social work
teams (within 2 working days) of notifications of children new
into care – performance issues where relevant will be shared
with Service Managers to address with teams.
Further work between the IRO Service and the locality social
work teams to improve quality and timeliness of preparation for
LAC reviews. This includes availability of relevant
documentation for IROs. See Appendix 3 section 2 for IRO
Service actions required.
Continued efforts to ensure effective and consistent
communication with IROs as regards all aspects of care and
permanency planning for children and young people.
Revised Care Plan documentation needed.
Improved placement sufficiency and suitability to support
stability and permanency.

127

9.0

Annual work programme of the IRO service i.e. priority areas for
improvement and action in the IRO service in the coming year
2015-16.
See Appendix 2 attached

Judith Jones
Service Manager
Safeguarding & Improvement Unit
June 2015

Appendix 1
IRO Service 2014-15 Annual Work Programme Performance and Outcomes

1)

ACTION

WHO

WHEN

Risk assessment to
consider sufficiency of
capacity in IRO Service

SIU Service
Manager

June 2014

RAG COMMENTARY
G

The IRO Service – Taking up the Challenge Report was
considered at DMT in June 2014 with the recommendation that
in order for the service to have sufficiency then a number of
additional IROs were needed.
A further paper outlining budget considerations was tabled in
August 2014.

2)

Achieve consistency of
approach across IRO
Team using observation
tool, peer review and
audit.

IRO
Managers
and IROs

Dec 2014

G

Consistency of approach across the IRO team is an ongoing
activity that has been supported over the reporting period by
IRO managers adopting continuous improvement practices
and activity including learning from practice observation and
audit; having good management oversight; setting clear
standards and expectations. IROs have undertaken some peer
review that has contributed to consistency of approach but
more systematic application is needed over 2015-16 (should
capacity allow) to gain most benefit.

128

At the time of writing, discussions to further progress
sufficiency in the IRO Service continue.

WHO

WHEN

RAG COMMENTARY

3)

Realise IRO Handbook
full implementation

IRO
Managers

See detail A
in
Appendix 3

See details in Appendix 3 – there are still some outstanding
aspects that have not been possible to progress as a result of
demand on the service over reporting period.

4)

Embed Growing Safety
methodology and
approach into LAC
Reviews

IRO
Managers
with SoS
Project Team
and IROs

March
2015

Through the implementation of Signs of Safety (SoS) Child
Protection Conferences over 2014-15, IROs have enhanced
their skill in SoS methodology and approach so are well set up
to take this forward into LAC reviews. Towards the end of this
reporting period, report templates to and from LAC reviews
have been changed so that they are now SoS congruent and a
small group of IROs with the support of IRO team manager are
piloting Signs of Safety Style LAC reviews.

G

The learning from this will be taken forward with a clear
implementation plan over 2015-16.
5)

Complete Care
Planning & Review
developments

IRO
Managers
and CSC

July 2014

G

A joint IRO/CSC care and permanency planning action plan
was drawn up in response to this previously outstanding piece
of work and has been driven forward over 2014-15 with some
success and good collaborative working. There is oversight by
Improvement Board and at the time of writing consideration is
being given to the evidence of impact of this work.
This work has included the development of flowcharts that
have become part of the permanence toolkit for social workers
to aid understanding of permanency systems and processes

129

ACTION

ACTION

WHO

WHEN

RAG COMMENTARY
for children and the role of the IRO in this.
New consultation documents for children and young people
have been developed in conjunction with the Children in Care
Council and basic Coming into Care packs have been
established and use commenced.
There are further actions that will be undertaken into 2015-16
to build on and refine the work that has already been achieved
(See Appendix 2)

More consistent and
increased use of
recording on Fwi by
IROs to evidence their
role and challenge.

IRO
Managers &
IROs

Through
quarterly
reporting

G

This has been achieved as is highlighted in the body of the
report (5.8.8, 5.8.9 & 7.11) but there is still room for further
improvement moving forward.

7)

Refine systems for
capturing evidence of
quality and impact of
IRO Service including
user feedback

IRO
Managers &
IROs

September
2014

A

This work is linked into what has been achieved so far as
regards new participation and consultation documents
(referenced at 5.8.10). It has not been possible to complete
this aspect of the wider work over the reporting period in
addition to the other pieces of development work within the
IRO Service but this will carry forward into the work programme
for 2015-16 (see Appendix 2).

130

6)

WHO

WHEN

RAG COMMENTARY

8)

Wider use of Beacon
website as a platform
for consultation and
participation

Beacon
Development
Team with
IRO Manager

Initial
phase by
September
2014

R

It has not been possible to commit resources to the Beacon
website in order to make full and effective use of it over 201415 but this will be carried forward into 2015-16 (see Appendix
2).

9)

Establish IRO specialist
role for Care Leavers
and SYPAC link.

IRO

July 2014

R

IRO identified but demand on service has meant that the focus
has had to be on delivering core business and it has not been
possible to prioritise additional responsibilities – carry forward
to 2015-16.

10) Further improve
participation
performance

IRO
Managers &
IROs with
locality social
work teams

March
2015

G

Achieved as highlighted in body of report (5.8.3)

11) Establish IRO Service
link with Family Justice
Board and VOICE of
young people in care

IRO
Managers
and young
people

July 2014

G

IRO Manager now sits on LFJB and is also a member of LFJB
performance sub group. Piece of work undertaken in 2014-15
with chair of LFJB and young people in care to raise profile of
young people’s voice and experience of care proceedings at
LFJB – opportunities in place to influence Public Law Outline
developments to secure better experience and outcomes for
children.

131

ACTION

ACTION

WHO

WHEN

12) Increase challenge –
IRO Service
Monthly
need to improve
with Assistant
influence at service and Director
strategic level not just
individual case

RAG COMMENTARY
G

Regular challenge meetings have taken place over the
reporting period where high profile and cases of concern have
been considered and actions taken to resolve situations for
children and young people with the aim of progressing their
care plans and achieving good outcomes.
Focus has been on individual children and young people as
well as common themes and issues around practice being
identified and actions taken to address. This has not been
confined to CSC but has included partners within and outside
LCC.

132

Appendix 2
IRO Service 2015-2016 Annual Work Programme
WHO

WHEN

RAG COMMENTARY

1)

Achieve sufficient capacity in the
IRO Service so that caseloads
are within the IRO Handbook
recommendations (50-70)

IRO Service
Manager with DMT

By end of Q2 201516

At time of writing (June 2015)
discussions planned between IRO
Manager and Assistant Director.

2)

Systematic and methodical peer
and manager review system to
be adopted to support
consistency of approach and
continuous improvement in IRO
Service

IRO Managers and
IROs

To commence in Q3
2015-16

Ability to successfully implement will
rely on (1) in this plan being
achieved.

3)

Implement outstanding elements
of IRO Handbook

IRO Managers and
IROs

See Appendix 3

4)

Achieve a Signs of Safety LAC
Review service

IRO Managers with
SoS Project Team
and IROs

March 2016

133

ACTION

5)

WHO

Build on Care Planning and
Review developments achieved
over 2014-15 including:

IRO Service with
By end of Q2 2015CSC, key partners & 16
Comms.

At time of writing a long term
fostering flowchart is in draft and
work is underway on a child friendly
complaints process leaflet that will
be included in the Coming into Care
packs.

IRO Service and
Business
Intelligence and
Performance Team

Would look for evidence of improved
performance by this timescale

•

Completion of suite of
flowcharts for social
workers to support
practice in relation to
permanency options for
children and young people
other than adoption.

•

Refine and add to Coming
into Care packs

Further reduce null returns as
regards recording on Fwi by
IROs of their visits and contact
with children (as per section 5.8.9
of the report). Work with
business intelligence and
performance team to ensure that
the data reflects an accurate
story of the work undertaken
around participation (5.8.8)

WHEN

RAG COMMENTARY

134

6)

ACTION

By Q3 2015-16

WHO

WHEN

7)

Develop an evaluation tool and
begin to gain feedback about the
quality and experience for young
people of their Review and the
IRO Service.

IRO Service

In place by end of
Q2 2015-16

8)

Effective use of Beacon website
including as a platform for
consultation, participation &
evaluation.

IRO & EH Service
Managers with The
Jitty and Beacon
Development Team
rep.

March 2016

Initial meeting scheduled for 23rd
June 2015.

9)

Establish IRO specialist role for
Care Leavers and SYPAC link if
capacity in IRO Service is able to
accommodate.

IRO

Ideally, with
immediate effect

IRO has been identified.

IRO Manager with
Cafcass Manager
and HHJ Bellamy

By end of Q2 201516

Meeting with HHJ Bellamy
scheduled for July 2015 and plans
in place for presentation re IRO role
to be made at FJB meeting following
this.

10) Raise profile of IRO and ensure
voice of IRO is heard in court in
care proceedings

RAG COMMENTARY

135

ACTION

ACTION

WHEN

11) Review case note type
nomenclature on Fwi for IRO
Challenge recording

IRO Manager with
Fwi link

By end of June 2016.

12) New Care Plan documentation to
support a commissioning
approach and embrace Signs of
Safety methodology.

Across IRO Service,
Commissioning
Development lead
and Principal Social
Worker.

Established by March
2016.

13) Ensure compliance with new
guidance and regulations –
Working Together 2015 & The
Care Planning and Fostering
(Miscellaneous Amendments)
(England) Regulations 2015

IRO Managers

From 1st April 2015

14) Review Escalation Process and
how challenge is more
systematically captured and
evidenced.

IRO Managers

In Q2 2015-16

RAG COMMENTARY

Some of the changes are adopted
practice in Leicestershire already;
the remaining implications are being
considered across the CSC Service
Manager group.

136

WHO

ACTION
15) IROs to be more consistently
robust and less lenient as
regards their challenge role.

WHO

WHEN

IROs with IRO
manager support

Embed further across
2015-16

RAG COMMENTARY

137

Appendix 3
IRO Handbook Implementation Plan – Outstanding areas
ACTION

WHO

WHEN

RAG

COMMENTARY

1)

Children and young people to
be given information re IRO
including contact details
when IRO is allocated within
5 days of coming into care.

Develop notification
process to inform young
person (age appropriately)
of the IRO’s details.

IRO
Service

September
2014

A

Letter is in draft ready for sign
off and use – this will be
completed by beginning of
July 2015.

2)

Planning and preparation
arrangements for LAC
Reviews including:
IRO to speak with the SW 15
working days prior to review

IROs to forward task date
for consultation and
planning and preparation
with SW and young
person.

IROs and
SWs

Sept 2014

A

IROs are liaising and
consulting in order to make
best plans for LAC reviews
but this may not always be
strictly within the prescribed
timescales – resolutions
around sufficient capacity will
help to improve this.

Consult with the child 10
working days prior & agree
role of child/young person in
the review (including
arrangement for young
person to chair some/all of
the meeting).

138

REQUIREMENT

3)

4)

REQUIREMENT
Written consultation to child,
parent, carers and other
significant person 10 working
days prior to review

To distribute decisions and
minutes within timescale

ACTION
Update consultation
process and methods

WHO
IRO
Service
with
children
and
young
people
IRO
Service

WHEN
September
2014

RAG
A

A

139

COMMENTARY
As per Appendix 1 sections 5
& 7, part of this work has
been achieved but the
elements relating to
parents/carers and other
significant persons are
outstanding and will form part
of the next phase of this work.
Target is within 20 working
days for full record of the LAC
Review.
Proportion of Reviews where
target has been fully met but
also delays ranging from a
few weeks to up to 3 months
for some.
Position is as a result of
cumulative effect over time,
impacted by sufficiency within
the IRO Service – the Service
continues to employ a range
of workload management and
business support strategies
including frequent and regular
monitoring, review and
management oversight to
address.

140

Appendix 4 – Tables of figures

Table 1
Leicestershire Care Population
70

500
450

60

50

350
300

40

250
30

200
150

20

100
10
50
0

31st March 2012
373

31st March 2013
435

31st March 2014
456

31st March 2015 [draft]
474

Leics. Per Capita (per 10,000)

28

32

34

35

Stat Neighbours Per Capita (per 10,000)

48

48

46

England Per Capita (per 10,000)

59

60

60

Children in Care

Table 2
Review Meetings recorded per Year

1400
1200
1000
800

1292

600
990

1092

1107

2012/13

2013/14

400
200
0
2011/12

Includes adoption reviews in 2014/15

2014/15

0

Per Capita (per 10,000)

Number of Leics Children in Care

400

141

Table 3
Child participation at LAC reviews 2014/15

600
494

500
400
334
300

254

200
100

72

88
14

3

20

PN2

PN3

PN4

13

0
PN0

PN1

PN5

PN6

PN7

(blank)

Table 4
Paperwork available to IRO 24 hours before ROA 2014/15

No, 355, 28%
Yes, 718, 57%

Some, 180, 15%

142

Table 4a
Paperwork available to IRO 24 hours before ROA 2013/14

No, 319, 29%

Yes, 593, 53%

Some, 195, 18%

143

Agenda Item 12

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 17 SEPTEMBER 2015
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES
PRIVATE FOSTERING
Purpose of report
1. The purpose of this report is to set out the current arrangements across Leicestershire
regarding private fostering. The British Association for Adoption and Fostering (BAAF)
says that private fostering is when a child under the age of 16 (under 18 if disabled) is
cared for by someone who is not their parent or a 'close relative'. This is a private
arrangement made between a parent and a carer, for 28 days or more. Close relatives
are defined as step-parents, grandparents, brothers, sisters, uncles or aunts (whether
of full blood, half blood or marriage/affinity).
2. Link to Better Care Together
Workstream
Maternity, neonates,
children and young
people

Relevance
*

Workstream
Mental health

Long term conditions

Frail and older people

Urgent care

Planned care

Learning disabilities

End of life

Relevance

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
3.

Responsibilities are set out in national guidance, Working Together to Safeguard
Children 2015, regulation 5, and the Children Act 2004 section 14. This is the first
occasion that this matter has been considered by the Health and Wellbeing Board.

Background
4.

In any local area, including Leicestershire, it is likely that a relatively small number
of children will be living in private fostering arrangements. However, such
arrangements are not always recognised by public services, nor do families who
have been privately involved in making such arrangements understand what they
are or that they are obliged to inform the local authority.

144
5.

Essentially after 28 days or more of a private fostering arrangement the local
authority should be advised of its existence and then should take steps to ensure
the arrangement is suitable by undertaking an assessment of the carer and
providing support to the child.

6.

In 2014 the Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) were concerned that the
number of children living in private fostering arrangements is not always being
identified, due to the fact that numbers identified in Leicestershire at that time were
low.

7.

In 2014, in order to promote the identification of private fostering arrangements and
in keeping with regulatory requirement the Leicestershire and Rutland Local
Safeguarding Children Board produced a new communications campaign aimed
specifically at professionals that may come into contact with Children or young
people that are privately fostered. The publicity material and campaign targeted; all
Leicestershire and Rutland schools, General Practitioners across both counties, all
health visitors and school nurses, social workers, targeted Early Help practitioners
and children’s centres. This part of the campaign was run in tandem with a strand
aimed at parents and individuals who may themselves be offering private fostering
arrangements.

8.

As a result of the ongoing awareness raising campaign at the present time there are
12 children in Leicestershire who have been identified as living in private fostering
arrangements. Of that cohort; in the year 2013/14 five children were identified as
living in private fostering arrangements, and in 2014/15 four children were identified
as living in private fostering arrangements. Although these numbers are small the
concern is that children in private fostering arrangements are potentially in very
vulnerable circumstances therefore every effort should be made to ensure all such
arrangements are identified and assessed.

Proposals/Options
9. The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to:
• Support the ongoing campaign to identify private fostering situations.
• Continue to raise awareness of private fostering in their organisation
• Consider any additional steps required to support the identification of private
fostering situations.
Consultation/Patient and Public Involvement
10. The communications campaign hosted by the LSCB in 2014 endeavoured to engage
with key professional and family stakeholders.
Conclusions/Recommendations
11. It is recommended that the Health and Wellbeing Board consider what additional
steps are necessary to promote the identification of private fostering arrangements
and thus provoke the appropriate responses from the County Council and health
partners.

145
Background papers
None
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure
12.

This matter is relevant to all parts of Leicestershire.

Officer to Contact
Walter McCulloch, Assistant Director
Telephone: 0116 305 7441
Email: walter.mcculloch@leics.gov.uk
List of Appendices
None
Relevant Impact Assessments
Equality and Human Rights Implications
13. The nature of the children and young people who live in private fostering
arrangements suggest that they are likely to be vulnerable therefore the necessity to
identify them is great.

146

This page is intentionally left blank

